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FADE IN:

1 EXT. COUNTRY ROAD- DAY 1

The camera will open up on a long country road in Northern Virginia. There is a single truck going down the road. The truck is very old and is in terrible need of a bath.

As the truck comes by the camera, it is easy to tell that the car is not going the normal speed limit because the speed limit sign is right next to the camera showing that it supposed to only be 35 miles per hour on this road.

The truck then turns off onto another road with a sign indicating that he has turned onto a National Forest.

CUT TO:

2 EXT. TRUCK- DAY 2

DONNIE BARBER, earlier thirties gets out of the truck and pulls out a crossbow quarrel. He shoulders it and starts walking toward a more forested area and out of the clearing. As he moves away it’s easy to see that there is a closed sign on the door to the small Ranger Station where he’s truck is parked.

CUT TO:

3 EXT. TREE- DAY 3

Barber climbs a large tree with the crossbow still hoisted on his shoulder. He reaches the top and pulls out a pair of binoculars. To his amazement, there is a deer very nearby. 

He pulls up his crossbow and gets ready to fire. Barber steadies the weapon in his hands and closes one of his eyes to get better focus. Then he fires away hitting the deer dead on. The animal runs a few yards and then falls over dead.

Barber seems very satisfied with himself and gets ready to get down from the tree. However, just as he leans over to begin climbing, and arrow flies right through his head.

Barber stands there for a few seconds almost suspended in mid air, and then his body plummets to the ground.

CUT TO:

4 OPENING CREDITS 4

While the opening credits are rolling, the film should be showing all kinds of information on the history between Clarice Starling and Hannibal Lecter. It should start with files from Starling’s first visit to see Lecter at the Asylum in Baltimore, and end with newspaper articles about the death of Paul Krendler.

CUT TO:

5 INT. GYM- DAY 5

We are in the gymnasium of the J. Edgar Hoover Building. There are only two people in there. They are both middle-aged men running around the small track. One of them has short graying hair and is wearing glasses. This man is JACK CRAWFORD. The other man is a bit shorter then him and has brown hair. This is CLINT PEARSALL.

PEARSALL

“Baylock at ATF has to twist in the wind for Waco. It won’t happen right now, but he’s done and he knows it. He might as well give the Reverend Moon notice he’s vacating the premises. And Farriday is out for Ruby Ridge.”

CRAWFORD

“I can’t see that. Farriday’s a good man. He didn’t set the rules of engagement.”

PEARSALL

“I told him yesterday morning.”

CRAWFORD

“He’s going quietly?”

PEARSALL

“Let’s just say he’s keeping his benefits. Dangerous times, Jack. So what are you now? Fifty-eight, right?”

CRAWFORD

“That’s right.”

PEARSALL

“So how has mandatory retirement been treating you the past two years?”

CRAWFORD
”Horribly. I used to be able to keep myself busy after Bella’s death… now I just sit at home most of the time reflecting back on what was… I need to get back into action Clint. This is driving me crazy.”

PEARSALL

“I don’t mean to be light about it Jack. Doreen was saying the other day, how much…”

CRAWFORD
”There’s still some stuff to do at Quantico. They want to streamline VICAP on the Web so any cop can use it, you saw it in the budget.”

PEARSALL
”That’s true Jack, but the fact remains. You’re retired. There’s nothing left for you to do. You’ve served your time as a member of the FBI, and you were always one of the best.”

CRAWFORD
”Then at least let me do some work at Quantico. The guys down there could use my help. They’re all piled up with file upon file, and evidence upon even more evidence all dealing with the Hannibal Lecter case.”

PEARSALL

“I’d love to help you Jack, but my hands are tied in…”

CRAWFORD
”Court? That’s right. You’ve got your ass loaded up with everything that happened over the past few weeks with what Lecter did right?”

PEARSALL
”I will say this. He came back with a bang. Lecter managed to kill two very important people with ease.”

CRAWFORD
”And one of them was the Deputy Assistant Inspector General at the Justice Department.”

PEARSALL
”Paul Krendler’s death caused a huge uproar all throughout Washington. I’m telling ya, I don’t like any of this, and your little Protégé added three more men to her list of gun downed.”

CRAWFORD
”Clarice Starling is not my Protégé.”

PEARSALL
”Well, I would’ve really thought she was seeing as which Will Graham backed out on that spot so long ago.”

CRAWFORD
”Special Agent Graham will always be my protégé, and my friend… Even if he never wants to see me again.”

PEARSALL

“Listen, I didn’t want to bring up old scars Jack.”

CRAWFORD
”It’s alright. But you have to understand that Starling knew what she was getting herself into when she went to Muskrat Farm while still on suspended leave. She somehow knew that Dr. Lecter was in trouble. Those two seem very alike in a lot of ways, and it scares me Clint.”

PEARSALL
”You’re not the only one it scares.”

CRAWFORD

“How well has the Verger place been searched?”

PEARSALL
”It’s been searched from top to bottom. Every inch of the Farm has been explored.”

CRAWFORD
”Witnesses?”

PEARSALL
”Verger’s sister was vacationing in Florida with her girlfriend when everything happened, and Verger’s personal nurse, Cordell, claims to have been in the house asleep during the proceedings.”

CRAWFORD
”What do you think? Do you believe that Lecter caused all of what happened?”

PEARSALL
”You know that I hate speculations. I always have.”

CRAWFORD
”Speculations are what cault Francis Dolarhyde and Jame Gumb. Besides, until you decide to once again put Staring on suspended leave, she’s on the case again and I’m positive that she’ll be able to locate him a lot faster.”

PEARSALL
”Yes, but Quantico hasn’t shown any results about Hannibal Lecter from just speculation yet. Yes, Starling did get close last time, but not close enough. I hope she does figure out what she really needs out of this. Who knows where Hannibal Lecter is now.”

CUT TO:

6 INT. BEDROOM- NIGHT 6

We are in a very elegant and beautiful bedroom. DR. HANNIBAL LECTER is asleep in his bed.

We then zoom into Dr. Lecter’s head… Into his Memory Palace where Hannibal is having an interesting flashback…

CUT TO:

7 INT. BARN- DAY 7

The six-year-old Dr. Hannibal Lecter watches several men leading a deer into the camp through the cracks in the wall. Hannibal runs back to his sister MISCHA and all of the other children in the room.

The men lead the deer inside the barn pulling and twisting its head against the plowline twisting its neck. They manage to knock it off its spindly legs and hack at its throat with an axe, cursing at one another in several languages to bring a bowl before the blood is wasted.

The men then leave the barn with the deer. The children all continue to look frightened, as they have for so long anyway.

Suddenly several different men come into the barn. All of the kids back up to the wall on the far end.

The men approach Hannibal. They feel of his thigh and his upper arm and chest.

MAN #1

(In native language)

“This one is nice and strong. We’ll leave him.”

MAN #2

(In native language)

“What about this one?”

They are all looking at Mischa.

MAN #1

(In native language)

“She’ll do. Tell her we’re taking her to play.”

MAN #2

(In his best Lithuanian tongue)

“Come little girl. We’re going to play.”

Hannibal holds on to Mischa very hard, with a wiry grip until the men slam the heavy barn door on him. This causes a fracture to Hannibal’s upper arm, where the sound of the cracking bone can be heard.

CUT TO:

8 EXT. BARN- DAY 8

It is snowing outside the barn as the men drag Mischa away.

MISCHA
”Hannibal! Hannibal!”

Through the barn, they can all hear Hannibal’s cries of pain from his broken arm.

CUT TO:

9 INT. BARN- DAY 9

Hannibal is trying his best to break through the door of the barn with no success.

HANNIBAL
”Mischa!”

CUT TO:

10 INT. SLAUGHTER HOUSE- DAY 10

In the Slaughter House, you can only see the dim light and the shadows of people moving around. There are the shadows of the men and the distinct shadow of Mischa as she’s dragged over to a large table and set there to be ripped apart by the Cannibalistic Nazis.

CUT TO:

11 INT. BEDROOM- NIGHT 11

We zoom out of Hannibal’s Memory Palace and back into the bedroom where Hannibal wakes up in a cold sweat. He just sits there staring forward as a tear comes to his eye.

HANNIBAL
(Whispering)

“Mischa.”

CUT TO:

12 INT. QUANTICO BASEMENT- DAY 12

FBI SPECIAL AGENT CLARICE STARLING sits at her desk looking at her computer screen. She seems extremely fatigued and is about to close her eyes when ERIC PICKFORD comes running into the room.

ERIC
”Agent Starling!”

Starling awakens with a start. She looks up at Eric and smiles.

STARLING
”Yes Mr. Pickford. How can I help you?”

ERIC
”You have a phone call on line one. It’s a Miss Rachel DuBerry.”

STARLING

“Oh, thank you.”

Eric smiles and walks out of the room. Starling picks up the phone and pushes line 1.

STARLING
(Cont.)

“Hello Mrs. DuBerry, I’m Special Agent Starling. How are you today?”

CUT TO:

13 INT. DUBERRY HOUSE- DAY 13

RACHEL DUBERRY sits at her dinning room table on the phone.

DUBERRY
”I’m perfectly fine Agent Starling. I was told that you were trying to get in contact with me is that correct?”

CUT TO:

14 INT. QUANTICO BASEMENT- DAY 14

STARLING
”Yes it is, Mrs. DuBerry.”

CUT TO:

15 INT. DINNING ROOM- DAY 15

DUBERRY
”Well, by all means, please talk.”

CUT TO:

16 INT. QUANTICO BASEMENT- DAY 16

STARLING
”Mrs. DuBerry, when you were active on the boards of the Philharmonic and the Westover School you knew Dr. Hannibal Lecter… Mrs. DuBerry?”

CUT TO:

17 INT. DINNING ROOM- DAY 17

DUBERRY
”I think I’d better take your number and call you back through the FBI switchboard.”

CUT TO:

18 INT. QUANTICO BASEMENT- DAY 18

STARLING

“Certainly. Once you get through to the switchboard, just dial 549.”

Starling hangs up the phone and waits staring at her computer screen. Then the phone rings and she answers it.

CUT TO:

19 INT. DINNING ROOM- DAY 19

DUBERRY
”Yes, I knew Hannibal Lecter socially years ago and the press has camped on my doorstep every since about it. He was an extraordinarily charming man, absolutely singular. Sort of made a girl’s fur crackle, if you know what I mean. It took me years to believe the other side of him.”

CUT TO:

20 INT. QUANTICO BASEMENT- DAY 20

STARLING
”Did he ever give you any gifts Mrs. DuBerry?”

CUT TO:

21 INT. DINNING ROOM- DAY 21

DUBERRY
”I received a note from him on my birthdays usually, even after he was in custody. Sometimes a gift before he was committed. He gives the most exquisite gifts.”

CUT TO:

22 INT. QUANTICO BASEMENT- DAY 22

STARLING

“And he gave the famous birthday dinner for you. With the wine vintages keyed to your birth date.”

CUT TO:

23 INT. DINNING ROOM- DAY 23

DUBERRY
”Yes. Suzy called it the most remarkable party since Capote’s Black and White Ball.”

CUT TO:

24 INT. QUANTICO BASEMENT- DAY 24

STARLING
”Mrs. DuBerry, if you should hear from him, would you please call me at once? Another thing I’d like to ask you if I may, do you have any special anniversaries with Dr. Lecter? And I need to ask you your birth date.”

CUT TO:

25 INT. DINNING ROOM- DAY 25

Mrs. DuBerry sits at the table with disgust as she shivers thinking of her actual date of birth and how old she is.

DUBERRY
”I would think that information was easily available to you.”

CUT TO:

26 INT. QUANTICO BASEMENT- DAY 26

STARLING
”Yes, ma’am, but there are some inconsistencies among dates on your social security, your birth certificate, and your driver’s license. In fact, none of them are the same. I apologize, but we’re keying custom orders on high-end items to the birthdays of Dr. Lecter’s known acquaintances.”

CUT TO:

27 INT. DINNING ROOM- DAY 27

DUBERRY
”Known acquaintances. I’m a known acquaintance now, what an awful term.”

Mrs. DuBerry chuckles.

DUBERRY
(Cont.)

“Agent Starling, how old are you?”

CUT TO:

28 INT. QUANTICO BASEMENT- DAY 28

STARLING

“I’m thirty-four, Mrs. DuBerry. I’ll be thirty-five two days before Christmas.”

CUT TO:

29 INT. DINNING ROOM- DAY 29

DUBERRY
”I’ll just say, in all kindness, I hope you’ll have a couple of known acquaintances in your life. They do help pass the time.”

CUT TO:

30 INT. QUANTICO BASEMENT- DAY 30

STARLING
”I’ll remember that. Now your birth date?”

Starling writes the information down on a nearby notepad and smiles.

STARLING

(Cont.)
”Thank you Mrs. DuBerry. Have a nice Day.”

Starling ends the phone conversation and stands up from her desk. She grabs her coat and leaves the room.

CUT TO:

31 EXT. MANSION- DAY 31

Clarice Starling is standing outside a very large and beautiful mansion in Nashville, Tennessee. She rings the doorbell and stands there, looking out at the landscape and all of the beautiful flowers that surround the house.

The door starts to open and Starling straightens herself and smiles as the door opens to reveal RUTH MARTIN, the former senator of Tennessee. The woman smiles.

RUTH
”Hello Agent Starling.”

STARLING
”Hello Senator Martin. It’s good to see you again. Can I come in? I just need to ask you a few questions?”

RUTH

“Of course.”

Ruth moves out of the doorway and allows Starling to enter.

CUT TO:

32 INT. LIVING ROOM- DAY 32

Ruth sets a cup of tea down on the table and carries another cup over to her seat and sits down across from Starling. Starling sips from her tea.

RUTH
”I’m afraid that you’re a couple days late of seeing Catherine. She’s on a vacation with a couple of her friends in Hawaii.”

STARLING
”Why didn’t you go?”

RUTH

(Laughing)
”Oh, I’ve been to Hawaii a million times. Besides, I would just be in the way. Ya know Starling, you never asked me for anything. If you ever want a job…”

STARLING
”Thank you Senator Martin.”

RUTH

(Smiling)

“About that goddamned Lecter, no I’d have notified the Bureau of course if I heard from him, and I’ll put your number here by the phone. Charlsie knows how to handle mail. I don’t expect to hear from him. The last thing that prick said to me in Memphis was ‘Love your suit’. He did the single cruelest thing anybody’s ever done to me, do you know what it was?”

STARLING
”I know, he taunted you.”

RUTH
”When Catherine was missing, when we were desperate and he said he had information on Jame Gumb, and I was pleading with him, he asked me, he looked into my face with those snake eyes and asked me if I had nursed Catherine. He wanted to know if I breast-fed her. I told him yes. It just brought it all back suddenly, holding her as a baby, thirsty, waiting for her to get full, it pierced me like nothing I ever felt, and he just sucked down my pain.”

STARLING
”What kind was it, Senator Martin?”

RUTH
”What kind… I’m sorry?”

STARLING
”What kind of suit did you have on, that Dr. Lecter liked.”

RUTH
”Let me think… A navy Givenchy, very tailored. When you’ve got him back in the slammer, come see me again Starling. This time not for business. We’ll ride some horses.”

STARLING
”Thank you, Senator, I’ll remember that.”

RUTH

(Smiling)
”Clarice, you can call me Ruth. We both have earned that much respect for one another.”

STARLING
(Smiling)

“Alright. It was good to see you again Ruth.”

RUTH
”Same to you as well Clarice.”

Starling stands and goes over to hug Ruth. They then walk out of the room.

CUT TO:

33 EXT. MANSION- DAY 33

Starling walks out of the house and waves to Ruth as she closes the door. Starling starts walking toward her vehicle, when suddenly her cell phone rings. Starling stops only long enough to answer the phone. She continues walking to the car as she begins to talk.

STARLING
”Starling.”

CUT TO:

34 INT. OFFICE- DAY 34

Jack Crawford sits at a desk in an office at Quantico.

CRAWFORD

“Starling, it’s Crawford. How are you doing?”

CUT TO:

35 EXT. CAR- DAY 35

Starling gets into her Mustang and shuts the door.

CUT TO:

36 INT. CAR- DAY 36

STARLING
”Mr. Crawford. It’s so good to hear from you. I’m doing fine sir. What can I do for you?”

CUT TO:

37 INT. OFFICE- DAY 37

CRAWFORD
”Starling, I’ve been aloud to start doing some paperwork here in Quantico. Mr. Parnell was the one that made it possible. However, I’m calling you for a different reason then that. I just received a phone call from a Sheriff Dumas in Clarendon County, Virginia. He says that they have someone down in their morgue that was trimmed up for meat. He wasn’t even sure if he had the right department when he called he was so shaken up.”

CUT TO:

38 INT. CAR- DAY 38

STARLING
”Well, sometimes I feel like we are the meat department of a grocery store.”

CUT TO:

39 INT. OFFICE- DAY 39

CRAWFORD
(Smiling)

“Listen Starling, can you go down there and check it out? I’ve got a lot of really busy men over here. And I know that you’re investigating Lecter anyway, and it appears from what Sheriff Dumas said, it could very well be Lecter.”

CUT TO:

40 INT. CAR- DAY 40

STARLING
”Yes sir, but the problem is that it’ll take me awhile to get there, because I just left Senator Ruth Martin’s house in Tennessee. But I will do my best to get out there quickly. Can you join me?”

CUT TO:

41 INT. OFFICE- DAY 41

CRAWFORD
”I’m afraid that I can’t. Parnell would have my head if I were to go out on some field assignment. I’m lucky to be back here at Quantico.”

CUT TO:

42 INT. CAR- DAY 42

Starling stares forward thinking to herself. She then gets a thought in her head and decides to react on it.

STARLING
”Mr. Crawford, you and I have always made a good team. And if I’m not mistaken, I’m in charge at Quantico to start with, which means that you now work under me. That’s a change isn’t it? So I say that I should deputize you and let you meet me out there in Clarendon County. If Agent Parnell gets in my face about it later, I’ll deal with him.”

CUT TO:

43 INT. OFFICE- DAY 43

CRAWFORD
(Smiling)

“You’re a very smart girl. I always knew that you’d make it big in the Bureau. I’ll see you there.”

CUT TO:

44 INT. RESTAURANT- NIGHT 44

We are inside a very elegant restaurant in Florence, Italy. We move through the restaurant passing by waiters carrying trays of food, as well as other people walking. We pass past people sitting in their seats, talking and eating their food, some laughing about who knows what.

The camera then stops at one table containing two very familiar faces. ALLEGRA PAZZI sits across from AGENT FRANCO BENETTI. They are both eating a very delicious looking Italian dish each.

ALLEGRA
”Thank you Franco for this lovely dinner, but I didn’t deserve it.”

BENETTI
”Allegra, you’ve been suffering for the last two weeks over Rinaldo. I just felt that you could use a little something nice. Whenever I notice you out on the streets, you barely say hi to me before you continue going on.”

ALLEGRA
”What am I supposed to do? Dr. Hannibal Lecter killed my husband, Franco. Don’t you think that it would be a little more difficult then that? What if he had killed someone you loved with all of your heart?”

BENETTI
”I know. I’m sorry. I’m just trying to help. You need someone to lean on. A shoulder to cry on perhaps.”

ALLEGRA
(Smiling)

“Thanks Franco. You’re really sweet. But I’ll be fine. I just have to do this on my own. I’m sure that it’ll all work out eventually. Right now I just need some quite and space. I just need to think everything through.”

BENETTI

“You’re right of course. I’ll walk you home if you’ll permit it.”

ALLEGRA
”I’d like that.”

The two stand and leave the table.

CUT TO:

45 EXT. STREET- NIGHT 45

Allegra and Agent Benetti both walk out of the restaurant and start walking down the street.

ALLEGRA
”It’s a beautiful night.”

BENETTI
”Ah yes, but the nights are always beautiful in Florence.”

ALLEGRA

(Sighing)

“Yes, I know.”

BENETTI
”Listen, Rinaldo wasn’t just my boss. He was a good friend. I feel at lose as well. It pains me to think about it. He was the best Inspector this beautiful city ever had.”

ALLEGRA
”I remember. He was world renown. I just wish he hadn’t have tried to match wits with Hannibal Lecter. I can’t believe I thought that man was very charming. Dr. Fell my ass.”

BENETTI
”He managed to fool a lot of people Allegra. It’s not your fault.”

ALLEGRA
(Sighing)

“You’re right of course.”

The two people continue down the empty streets, moving toward Allegra’s home. However, they both stop as they see a lone man in the street staring right at them. He is smoking a cigar.

BENETTI
”Who are you?”

The dark figure throws the cigar and comes out of the shadows. It’s the JANITOR from the Palazzo Vecchio.

JANITOR
”Il Mostro.”

Il Mostro starts running toward the two people. Allegra screams as he jumps Agent Benetti and the two start struggling around on the ground.

ALLEGRA
”Franco!”

Il Mostro pulls out a knife and then slashes at Benetti several times as he screams in pain. Allegra screams again and starts running away down the street. Il Mostro turns and stands. He starts running after Allegra and catches up to her as she turns a corner.

Allegra screams loudly from the other corner as Il Mostro apparently catches up to her and goes in for the kill.

CUT TO:

46 INT. AUTOPSY ROOM- DAY 46

Starling and Crawford walk into the Autopsy Room at the Clarendon County Morgue. There is a pathologist, DR. HOLLINGSWORTH, and his assistant doing something delicate and does not look up when the two come in.

There is the sudden sound of a saw as Starling looks over the doctor’s shoulder to see that he and the assistant are taking the top of the man’s head off.

Starling suddenly feels dizzy.

CUT TO:

47 FLASHBACK 47

The top of PAUL KRINDLER’S head is being lifted off of the rest of his head by the hands of Dr. Lecter.

CUT TO:

48 INT. AUTOPSY ROOM- DAY 48

Crawford takes Starling’s hand and tries his best to keep her balanced.

Dr. Hollingsworth and the assistant notice Starling and Crawford. He stops the saw. He leaves the assistant to finish the job as she takes the man’s head off and dumps the brain into the open chest cavity of the corpse.

Dr. Hollingsworth shakes Crawford’s hand and then offers it to Starling, but she just turns away.

CRAWFORD
”Don’t mind her. Just a bad experience. I’m Jack Crawford and she’s Special Agent Clarice Starling.”

HOLLINGSWORTH

“I’m Dr. Hollingsworth, medical examiner, hospital pathologist, chief cook and bottle washer. Marlene, would you undrape those remains, please.”

Starling turns back around to look at the body that was being operated on earlier.

HOLLINGSWORTH

(Cont.)

“You’re wondering about that brain?”

Starling nods.

HOLLINGSWORTH
”We’re not careless here, Agent Starling. It’s a favor I do the undertaker, not putting the brain back in the skull. In this case they’ll have an open coffin and a lengthy wake, and you can’t prevent brain material leaking onto the pillow, so we stuff the skull with Huggies or whatever we have and close it back up, and I put a notch in the skull cap over both ears, so it won’t slide. Family gets the whole body back, everybody’s happy.”

STARLING
”I understand.”

CRAWFORD
”Now, please, show us this body that we were called to see.”

Hollingsworth leads them to the other side of the morgue, where lying on the table, they see the dear and the Donnie Barber laying on autopsy tables side by side. The arrows in both victims remain as they were.

HOLLINGSWORTH
”Odd to see them together. Their hearts weighed exactly the same. One difference on the man, you can see here where the short ribs were separated from the spine and the lungs pulled out the back. They almost look like wings, don’t they?”

STARLING
”Bloody Eagle.”

HOLLINGSWORTH
”I never saw it before.”

STARLING

”Neither have I.”

Both of them turn to Crawford.

CRAWFORD
”Likewise.”

STARLING
”The literature at Quantico has it. It’s a Norse sacrificial custom. Chop through the short ribs and pull the lunges out the back, flatten them out like that to make wings. There was a neo-Viking doing it in Minnesota in the thirties.”

HOLLINGSWORTH
”You guys see a lot of this, I don’t mean this, but this kind of stuff.”

CRAWFORD
”Sometimes we do, yes.”

HOLLINGSWORTH
”It’s out of my line a little. We get mostly straightforward murders… please shot and knifed, but do you want to know what I think?”

CRAWFORD
”I think we’d both love to know very much Doctor.”

HOLLINGSWORTH
”I think the man, his ID says Donnie Barber, killed the deer illegally yesterday, the day before the season started… I know that’s when it died. That arrow’s consistent with the rest of his archery equipment. He was butchering it in a hurry.”

Dr. Hollingsworth takes a second to pause and catch his breath.

HOLLINGSWORTH

(Cont.)

“I haven’t done the antigens on that blood on his hands, but it’s deer blood. He was just going to take what deer hunters call the back strap, and he started a sloppy job, this short ragged cut here. Then he got a big surprise, like this arrow through his head. Same color, but a different kind of arrow. No notch in the butt. Do you recognize it?”

STARLING
”It looks like a crossbow quarrel.”

HOLLINGSWORTH
”A second person, maybe the one with the crossbow, finished dressing the deer, doing a much better job, and then, by God, he did the man too. Look how precisely the hide is reflected here, how decisive the incisions are. Nothing spoiled or wasted. Michael DeBaker couldn’t do it better. There’s no sign of any kind of sexual interference with either of them. They were simply butchered for meat.”

STARLING
”Dr. Hollingsworth, were the livers missing?”

HOLLINGSWORTH
”The deer’s liver is missing. Mr. Barber’s liver apparently wasn’t up to standard. It was partly excised and examined, there’s an incision just along the portal vein. His liver is cirrhotic and discolored. It remains in the body, would you like to see?”

CRAWFORD
”I don’t believe that will be necessary.”

STARLING
”What about the thymus?”

HOLLINGSWORTH
”The sweetbreads, yes, missing in both cases. Agent Starling, nobody’s said the name yet, have they?”

STARLING
”No. Not yet.”

HOLLINGSWORTH
”Could it be possible? Is Hannibal the Cannibal really here?”

STARLING
”I don’t believe that we want to speculate on that just yet.”

Dr. Hollingsworth walks over to a file at the far side of the table where Donnie’s body lays. He picks it up and opens it.

HOLLINGSWORTH
”Sheriff Dumas couldn’t be here today to talk to you, so he left me the criminal file so I could explain to you a little about this man. Perhaps it’ll help you to understand why he was killed.”

CRAWFORD

“By all means, please do.”

HOLLINGSWORTH
”Donnie Leo Barber, WM thirty-two, resides in a trailer at Trail’s End Park at Cameron. No employment. General discharge with prejudice from the Air Force four years ago. He’s got an airframe and power plant ticket from the FAA. Sometime airplane mechanic. Paid a misdemeanor fine for discharging a firearm in the city limits, paid a fine for criminal trespass last hunting season. Pled guilty to poaching deer in Summit County two seasons ago. He just has gotten his license back.”

STARLING
”All that really tells us that he’s had a lot of problems in his life. I don’t really see how this could be a Lecter killing…”

CRAWFORD
”Starling. Let’s not discuss this here.”

STARLING
”Of course Mr. Crawford.”

CRAWFORD
”Thank you Dr. Hollingsworth. I’ll have a few agents here in a couple of hours to take pictures of the bodies. Thank you for your time.”

Crawford shakes Dr. Hollingsworth’s hand.

HOLLINGSWORTH
”It was a pleasure meeting both of you.”

CRAWFORD
”Same to you.”

STARLING
”Good bye Dr. Hollingsworth.”

Starling and Crawford exit while Dr. Hollingsworth turns back to the bodies and sighs.

CUT TO:

49 EXT. MORGUE- DAY 49

Crawford and Starling exit the morgue and begin walking toward their car.

STARLING
”I’m telling you Mr. Crawford, this cannot be a Lecter murder.”

CRAWFORD
”Then who did it, and why?”

STARLING
”Perhaps some obsessed fan of Dr. Lecter’s. There are thousands of them out there. Lecter’s become like Elvis Presley. They all want to know everything about him. All want to buy, sale, and trade merchandise about him. There are even people out there in the world that impersonate him. Why not have some whacked out fan kill someone like Lecter would do?”

CRAWFORD

“Starling, you’re making absolutely no sense. Of course it was Lecter.”

STARLING
”Mr. Crawford, do you honestly believe that Lecter would stay here in the states after what he did to Paul Krendler? No. He got on the next flight out of here. And besides, it’s not like Dr. Lecter to just kill some random person for no reason besides the fact that he likes to kill wildlife on off seasons.”

CRAWFORD
”Alright Starling, I’ll chose to go with your judgment, but we have to keep an open mind to everything. He could very well still be in the United States. He might just be trying to throw us off into making us think that he’s in a different part of the world, because that’s what you’ll make all of us believe.”

STARLING
”You’re right sir. We can’t eliminate any possibilities just yet. Do you mind if I go out to Baltimore?”

CRAWFORD
”What’s out there?”

STARLING
”A few links that have yet to be explored. Don’t worry; I’ll keep in contact with you about everything at all times. I just feel that we should look into all angles.”

CRAWFORD
”Do you need me to come with you?”

STARLING
”No. I have something better for you Mr. Crawford. Why don’t you go back to Quantico and get some rest. You look really tired. I need you at full strength sir, and you don’t look like you’re at your best.”

CRAWFORD
”I’m hardly ever at my best anymore Starling. Don’t you ever notice all of the medication that I’ve been taking?”

STARLING
”Yes I have sir. I just want you rested up for the rest of the big stuff. What I want to do in Baltimore is meager.”

CRAWFORD
”Alright. Let me drive you to the airport and then I’ll start on my way back to Quantico. How does that sound?”

STARLING
(Smiling)

“Perfect.”

CUT TO:

50 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 50

Dr. Hannibal Lecter sits at the small table in his kitchen. He is sipping some coffee and looking at his copy of The National Tattler. The cover page shows to Lecter the information on the death of Donnie Barber. As he reads the information, his eyes move down toward a picture of Donnie Barber.

Lecter looks upward showing that he’s thinking. We zoom into Lecter’s memory palace once again. This time, inside of the palace, we see a long hallway with several doors along it. We zoom into one of the rooms…

CUT TO:

51 INT. GUN SHOW- DAY 51

We have gone backwards through time before Paul Krendler’s death. Lecter is looking at weapons at a national gun show in Northern Virginia. Lecter looks over to see a man, Donnie Barber, looking at a large crossbow. He is acting extremely rude to the man that’s trying to sale the crossbow to him. Donnie throws the money on the table and starts walking away.

Lecter smiles a little at the sight. He turns his eyes just for a split second to see Donnie leaving the building, and right behind him is CORDELL DOEMLING.

We rush back out of the room and leave the memory palace.

CUT TO:

52 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 52

Lecter smiles and chuckles to himself as he still reads.

HANNIBAL
”Cordell. What a surprise.”

Lecter then notices something on a different newspaper sitting on the table. This one is a tabloid from Florence, Italy. On the front cover is information on the deaths of Allegra Pazzi and Agent Franco Benetti. He sees the information about the deaths being performed in an Il Mostro fashion.

Lecter once again smiles. He stands up and goes over to the coffee maker to pour another cup. We zoom into Lecter’s head again…

CUT TO:

53 EXT. GARDEN- DAY 53

Hannibal and Mischa sit in the garden just looking at one another. Mischa reaches past Hannibal to an eggplant behind him. However, before she can get a hold of it, the NURSE comes and takes her away.

NURSE
”Come along Mischa. It’s time for your bath.”

HANNIBAL
”But we were just having some…”

NURSE
”Now Mischa.”

MISCHA
”Alright.”

Hannibal turns to the eggplant. He takes out his little pocketknife and cuts the stem of the eggplant. He takes out his handkerchief and polishes it. He then walks off to find Mischa.

CUT TO:

54 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 54

Dr. Lecter sets the coffee cup down and puts his hands on the counter. He just stands there breathing heavily, as these visions are obviously very disturbing for him to remember.

CUT TO:

55 INT. MARYLAND STATE BOARD HOSPITAL CAFETERIA- DAY 55

Starling sits beside INELLE COREY in the hospital cafeteria.

STARLING

“Are you sure that you don’t want any coffee Inelle?”

COREY
”It’s pronounced Eyenelle, and no, I still don’t want any coffee.”

STARLING
”You just seem really nervous.”

COREY
”Well, when someone from the FBI asks to speak to you without even bothering to give a reason over the phone, you start to worry.”

STARLING
”Perhaps you’re right. Would you like something else?”

COREY
”I don’t want anything.”

STARLING
”Inelle, I need some help on a matter that really doesn’t involve you personally at all. I just need guidance in finding some records from the Baltimore State Hospital.”

COREY

“We have went through this with the state board at the time of closure, Miss Starling. You will find that not a patient went out of that hospital without a folder. You will find that not a folder went out of that hospital that was not approved by a supervisor. As far as the deceased go, the Health Department did not need their folders, the Bureau of Vital Statistics did not want their folders, and as far as I know, the dead folders, that is the folders of the deceased, remained at the Baltimore State Hospital past my separation date and I was about the last one out. The run offs went to the city police and the sheriff’s department.”

STARLING

“Would Dr. Hannibal Lecter be carried as a run off? Do you think his records might have gone to law enforcement?”

COREY

“He was not a run off. He was never carried as our run off. He was not in our custody when he took off. I went down there to the bottom and looked at Dr. Lecter one time, showed him to my sister when she was here with the boys. I feel sort of nasty and cold when I think about it. He stirred up one of those other ones to throw some… jism on us. Do you know what that is?”

STARLING

“I’ve heard the term. Was it Mr. Miggs, by any chance? He has a good arm.”

COREY
”I’ve shut it out of my mind. I remember you. You came to the hospital and talked to Fred… err, Dr. Chilton… and went down there in that basement with Lecter, didn’t you?”

STARLING
”Yes.”

COREY
”You know Fred disappeared?”

STARLING
”Yes, I heard that.”

COREY
”He was my fiancé. He was gone, and then the hospital closed, it was just like the roof fell in on me. If I hadn’t had my church, I could not have got by.”

STARLING
”I’m sorry. You have a good job now.”

COREY
”But I don’t have Fred. He was a fine, fine man. We shared a love, a love you don’t find everyday. He was voted Boy of the Year on Canton when he was in High School.”

STARLING
”Well, I’ll be. Let me ask you this, Inelle, did he keep the records in his office, or were they out in reception where your desk…”

COREY
”They were in the wall cabinets in his office and then they got so many we got big filing cabinets out in the reception area. They were always locked, of course. When we moved out, they moved in the methadone clinic on a temporary basis and a lot of stuff was moved around.”

STARLING

“If anything occurs to you, any place the file might be; would you call me?”

COREY

“We’ll do what we call a global search, but I don’t think we’ll find anything. A lot of stuff just got abandoned, not by us, but by the methadone people.”

STARLING
”Alright. Thank you for your time Inelle. Here’s my card. I’ll be in touch.”

Starling gets up and takes the two cups with her. Corey just stares at the card and sighs.

CUT TO:

56 EXT. BALTIMORE STATE HOSPITAL- DAY 56

The camera shows wide shots of the Baltimore State Hospital for the Criminally Insane. There is a man, THE CARETAKER, sitting on a golf cart at the front entrance to the building.

The camera moves past the sign of the hospital as a car pulls up toward the front of the building.

The Caretaker gets up and gets ready to assist the visitor.

Clarice Starling gets out of the car and starts walking forward toward the Caretaker.

CARETAKER
”I… I don’t own this building, so I just check the fire alarms. It’s really bad for me. My asthma… The mold. It’s really bad. I can hardly breathe in there… I… I can’t go down there. The stairs are really bad on my leg.”

The Caretaker opens the door and allows Starling to enter.

STARLING

“Well, I know my way. I’ll come running if I need ya. You’ll be up here?”

CARETAKER
”I’ll be in the trailer.”

STARLING
”That’s fine.”

The caretaker slams the door.

CUT TO:

57 INT. HOSPITAL- DAY 57

Starling turns around and starts down the corridor. It’s extremely dark, and Starling is forced to use a flashlight to get down the hallways.

She tries to flip on a light switch, but there is no reaction. Starling trips on a box, but keeps her balance. She moves over to the Patient Records cabinets and starts looking through them, going to the L’s.

All of the files are empty. However, Starling rips off the nametag from one of the files anyway.

CUT TO:

58 INT. DUNGEON- DAY 58

Starling moves down the familiar corridor into the place where she first met Dr. Lecter. She is shinning the flashlight around the room where she first saw Barney Matthews.

Suddenly Starling hears the voice of Hannibal Lecter…

HANNIBAL
(V.O.)
”Are you paying attention to me, Ex-Special Agent Starling?”

Starling looks down the long hallway leading to Hannibal’s old cell. However, she turns around as she hears another voice in her head and sees a flash of the face of BARNEY MATTHEWS…

BARNEY
”Hi, I’m Barney. He told you, don’t get near the glass?”

Starling starts walking down the hallway.

BARNEY
(V.O.)

“Just past the others. Last cell. You keep to the right. I put out a chair for you. I’ll be watching. You’ll do fine.”

Starling arrives at the end of the hall where Lecter’s cell still stands with the glass still held in place. She looks over and sees the chair where she sat in all those years ago.

She walks into the cell.

CUT TO:

59 INT. CELL- DAY 59

Starling shines the flashlight around the cell, to the mirror and Lecter’s old table where amazingly, there are drugs and liquor now sitting on the table. She hears movement behind her and turns around shinning the flashlight into the eyes of an OLD HOMELESS MAN, SAMMIE.

SAMMIE
”Are you Jesus?”

STARLING
”No. No, I’m not.”

The man stands up.

SAMMIE
”Are you Jesus?”

STARLING
”No, I’m not.”

SAMMIE
”I want to go with Jesus. I want to go with Christ. I can go with Jesus, if I am really nice.”

STARLING
”Sit down please.”

SAMMIE
”I can go with Christ.”

STARLING
”Sit down sir.”

SAMMIE
”I can go with Jesus.”

STARLING
”It’s alright.”

Sammie stands there in confusion. Then Starling shuts off the light, and the man lies back down. 

CUT TO:

60 INT. OFFICE- NIGHT 60

Jack Crawford sits at a desk in a small office signing some papers. Starling suddenly walks into the room.

CRAWFORD
”Welcome back Starling. Did you find anything in Baltimore?”

STARLING
”No sir. All of Lecter’s files from the Baltimore State Hospital are gone.”

Crawford looks up from his writing.

CRAWFORD
”Well, I could’ve told you that Starling. I took a team in there two years ago and didn’t find anything.”

STARLING
”Why wasn’t I informed of this?”

CRAWFORD
”Because you weren’t a part of Behavioral Science. You were busy catching bad guys like Evelda Drumgo and…”

STARLING
”Let’s not bring that up.”

CRAWFORD
”Alright. Was the hospital the only place you went?”

STARLING
”No. I went to talk to Dr. Chilton’s former fiancé, Inelle Corey.”

CRAWFORD
”I didn’t know that bastard had a fiancé. Who would ever want to marry him?”


STARLING

(Smiling)

“That’s the same thing I thought sir.”

CRAWFORD
”Well, I’m glad you’re back. I have some news to tell you. I tried to call you when I first found out about it, but I guess you must’ve had your cell phone turned off.”

STARLING
”I did. I didn’t want any distractions.”

CRAWFORD
”Starling, Rinaldo Pazzi’s widow Allegra, and an Agent at the Questura named Franco Benetti were found murdered last night in an Il Mostro fashion. You knew Franco Benetti correct?”

STARLING
”Yes, he’s the agent that sent me tapes of several perfume stores in Florence.”

CRAWFORD
”Well, Starling, this wouldn’t matter to us if it was just Il Mostro’s doing. He’s under the jurisdiction of the Florentine Police. However, there’s something different about these murders.”

STARLING
”And that would be?”

CRAWFORD
”Both Allegra and Agent Benetti’s thymus and liver had both been removed, obviously before the normal Il Mostro treatment of flowers surrounding the bodies was done. Apparently, Dr. Lecter returned to Florence and is trying to copy the killing pattern of Il Mostro.”

STARLING
”No sir. That’s not Dr. Lecter. He would never copy another killer’s patterns. He would think that as rude. You know that. This is another distraction, just like Donnie Barber. There are people in this world that are, for some strange reason, trying to protect and help Dr. Lecter, and apparently Il Mostro is doing it too now.”

CRAWFORD

“Why?”

STARLING
”Rinaldo Pazzi was after Il Mostro for a long time before he started chasing Hannibal Lecter. Perhaps Il Mostro saw Lecter kill Pazzi and was returning the favor, because once Lecter killed Pazzi, that doubled the chances of Il Mostro not being caught.”

CRAWFORD
”What if you’re wrong about this Starling?”

STARLING
”I know I’m not sir. Lecter wouldn’t return to Florence. That’s not like him. He wouldn’t be safe there. He’s somewhere far away from Florence, that you can be sure of.”

CRAWFORD
”Well, what should be our next move Starling? We’re running out of leads here in the states.”

STARLING
”There is one source that we have yet to check. I didn’t ever know how to approach you about this source though.

CRAWFORD
”Just tell me, Starling.”

STARLING

“Let me go to Marathon, Florida sir.”

Crawford sits back in his chair and sighs.

STARLING
(Cont.)

“Just hear me out sir. This is the perfect opportunity to really get to know Hannibal Lecter for me. I could meet the man that caught Lecter all those years ago. I’m sure he could help us.”

CRAWFORD
”Going down there isn’t going to help a thing. He won’t help. Believe me, I should know.”

STARLING
”Just give me a chance Mr. Crawford. I’m sure I can talk him into something.”

CRAWFORD
”I don’t have any control over you anymore Starling. You can do whatever you want to.”

STARLING

(Smiling)

“Thank you sir.”

Starling starts to leave the office.

CRAWFORD
”Oh, and Starling.”

Starling stops and turns around.

STARLING
”Yes sir?”

CRAWFORD
”Tell Will I said hi.”

STARLING
(Smiling)

“I will sir.”

Starling walks out of the room. Crawford puts his hands on his head and looks down.

CUT TO:

61 EXT. MUSKRAT FARM- DAY 61

The camera shows dozens of shots of Muskrat Farm, including the exterior of the Verger house. The camera then focuses on two people that are riding horses in the fields. They are going at a very fast pace through the fields. One of the ladies is going a lot faster then the other. The other lady is struggling to try to keep up.

The lady in the lead looks back to the one behind. This woman is very muscular and has long black hair. This is Mason Verger’s sister, MARGOT VERGER. She giggles as she keeps going.

MARGOT
”Come on Judy! You can keep up!”

JUDY INGRAM struggles to stay on the horse, as it’s obvious that she is losing control. Suddenly Judy scream and falls off the horse, crashing into the ground.

Margot stops and turns around. She then walks her horse over to Judy as she watches the horse she was riding stop only a few feet away. Margot jumps off her horse and helps Judy up.

MARGOT
”You’ve really got to learn to ride.”

JUDY
”I do know how to ride. I just can’t go very fast. You know that.”

MARGOT
”Still. You should learn if you’re going to keep up with me baby.”

Margot winks at Judy. Judy just smiles and turns away embaraced. Suddenly they can both here a man calling for them. They turn to see CORDELL DOEMLING running toward them.

CORDELL

“Ms. Verger! Ms. Verger!”

MARGOT
”What is it Cordell?”

Cordell finally stops running toward them as he gets close enough to actually talk. However, he’s so out of breath that he starts panting really heavily.

JUDY
”Are you alright?”

CORDELL
”Yes Ms. Ingram. Thank you for your concern.”

MARGOT
”What did you want Cordell?”

CORDELL
”I just got off the phone with my brother. He’ll be here in a few minutes.”

MARGOT
”Wonderful. Set up the patio furniture. It’s too beautiful a day to be discussing business indoors.”

CORDELL
”Of course Ms. Verger.”

CUT TO:

62 EXT. BACK PATIO- DAY 62

Margot and Judy sit in chairs behind the Verger Mansion. They are drinking tea and laughing about something. Cordell then comes forward with a man that looks a bit similar to him, but is a bit more attractive. This is his brother, DR. CHRIS DOEMLING.

MARGOT
”Good afternoon Dr. Doemling. I’m Margot Verger, and this is Judy Ingram. How are you today?”


DOEMLING
”I’m fine. And the both of you?”

MARGOT
”We’re perfect aren’t we Judy?”

JUDY
”Ecstatic.”

MARGOT
”Please sit down.”

Dr. Doemling sits down. Margot looks up at Cordell.

MARGOT
”Cordell, would you be so kind as to get your brother something to drink?”

CORDELL
”Of course. Brother?”

DOEMLING
”Tea.”

CORDELL
”I’ll be right back.”

JUDY
”So, Margot tells me that you’re the head of the psychology department at Baylor University, and that you hold the Verger Chair.”

DOEMLING
”That’s right. Very observant of you.”

MARGOT
”I’m sorry that we’ve never met until now Doctor, but these are very pressing times.”

DOEMLING
”I know. There’s a possibility that the board may remove the Verger Chair if we’re not careful, seeing as which Mason was killed.”

MARGOT
”Yes… Judy, I’ve asked the good doctor what kind of bond there might be between Dr. Lecter and the FBI agent Clarice Starling. Doctor…”

Cordell returns with the tea.

DOEMLING
”Oh, thank you brother.”

MARGOT
”Please have a seat Cordell.”

Cordell sits beside his brother.

DOEMLING
”I’ve reviewed the Starling woman’s notes on her interviews with Hannibal Lecter, his letters to her, and the material you provided me on their background.”

Margot shifted in her seat a little as Doemling continued…

DOEMLING

“Now we know that Hannibal Lecter was born in Lithuania. His father was a count, title dating from the tenth century, his mother high-born Italian, a Visconti. During the German retreat from Russia some passing Nazi panzers shelled their estate near Vilnius from the high road and killed both parents and most of the servants. The children disappeared after that. There were two of them, Hannibal and his sister. We don’t know what happened to the sister. The point is, Lecter was an orphan, like Clarice Starling.”

MARGOT
”Which we already knew. Apparently Mason knew everything that there was to know about Lecter.”

DOEMLING
”But what did you conclude from it?  I’m not proposing a kind of sympathy between two orphans, Ms. Verger. This is not about sympathy. Sympathy does not enter here. And mercy is left bleeding in the dust. Listen to me. What a common experience of being an orphan gives Dr. Lecter is simply a better ability to understand her, and ultimately control her. This is all about control.”

MARGOT
”The Starling woman spent her childhood in institutions, and from what you tell me she does not evidence any stable personal relationship with a man. She lives with a former classmate, a young African-American woman.”

CORDELL
”That’s more then likely a sex thing.”

Margot and Judy stare at Cordell. He feels a little guilty for what he said and turns away.

DOEMLING
”You can never say to a certainty why someone lives with someone else.”

MARGOT
”It is one of the things that is hid, as the Bible says.”

JUDY

“Starling looks pretty tasty, if you like whole wheat.”

CORDELL
”I think the attraction’s from Lecter’s end, not hers. You’ve seen her… She’s pretty cold fish.”

MARGOT
”Is she a cold fish Cordell?”

JUDY
”You think she’s queer, Margot?”


MARGOT
”How the hell would I know? Whatever she is, she treats it as her own damn business. That was my impression. I thin she’s tough, and she had on her game face, but I wouldn’t say she’s a cold fish. Girls who looks like Starling has to keep a certain distance in her face because assholes are hitting on her all the time.”

DOEMLING
”I have an idea about her private life, regarding her apparent father fixation. I think Starling may have a lasting attachment to her father, an imago, that prevents her from easily forming sexual relationships and may incline her to Dr. Lecter in some kind of transference, which in his perversity he would seize on at once.”

MARGOT
”That’s very amazing information Doctor. However, now there’s someone I want you to meet. Someone who knows both Starling and Lecter and saw them together, and he’s been around Lecter more then almost anyone. I want you to talk to him. Cordell, if you please?”

Cordell rushes off.

DOEMLING
”Ms. Verger, I have a very important appointment that I’ve got to get to right away. I really don’t have time to…”

MARGOT
”No! You have plenty of time. We need your full attention in all of these matters no matter what other prior engagements you have waiting. Now, just sit there and drink the rest of your tea. Our other guest will arrive any… Oh! There he comes now.”

Dr. Doemling turns around to see Cordell returning with a man right behind him. This man’s face can’t be easily seen, because he’s wearing a very nice looking Fedora.

However, as soon as they arrive at the table, the man takes the hat off to reveal that it is none other then DR. FREDRICK CHILTON.

Dr. Doemling stands up and shakes the man’s hand immediately.

DOEMLING
”Dr. Chilton. It’s such a pleasure to meet you. I’ve heard and read about all kinds of things dealing with you. Believe me, this is a true honor.”

CHILTON
”You’re too kind my friend. Please sit down. We’ll talk.”

Dr. Doemling sits back down and Chilton sits beside him. Margot looks at Cordell, seeing that he’s just standing around, looking like a complete idiot.

MARGOT
”Cordell, please go clean something. You look like a Jehovah’s Witness standing there like that. You know that makes me nervous.”

CORDELL
”Sorry Ms. Verger.”

Cordell slowly walks off shakes his head.

MARGOT
”Your brother can be such a nuisance Dr. Doemling. To tell you the truth, I don’t know why he’s still…”

DOEMLING
”I’m very curious about something Dr. Chilton.”

CHILTON
”What would that be?”

DOEMLING
”Well, I heard that you disappeared down in Buenos Aires several years ago after Dr. Lecter was set free. What happened to you?”

CHILTON
”Well, it’s a very interesting story actually. You see, I was going to stay down in Buenos Aires for a few weeks until things in the States settled down and then I’d return to my practice, because I knew that Lecter would never come after me there. He would end up caught again. However, right after I arrived, I was pulled aside by some men that said they worked for Mason Verger and that I needed to come with them.”

DOEMLING
”Had you heard of Mason Verger before then?”

CHILTON
”The name sounded familiar to me. I remembered reading about him in Lecter’s case file. So I thought that I might be safe if I went with them. And well, since then, I’ve been living on this estate just waiting.”

DOEMLING
”Waiting for what?”

CHILTON
”My time to take revenge. That’s what I’ve wanted all along. Hannibal Lecter has kept me from enjoying my life. I had to give up on going back to me fiancé because of that monster.”

DOEMLING
”Mason wouldn’t let you leave?”

CHILTON
”No, and apparently his sister won’t either.”

MARGOT
”Hey, I told you that I would if you’d help me out with this.”

CHILTON
”Yes, revenge for your brother’s death. If I help them, I get out on good behavior.”

MARGOT
”That’s not funny.”

CHILTON
”I thought it was.”

DOEMLING
”Wait a minute, why weren’t you involved with what Mason was doing?”

CHILTON
”Because Mason Verger didn’t trust me. I don’t really know why. He just kept me locked up in his basement for years. I’m just surprised that his sister at least has been letting me stay in a room now.”

JUDY
”You’re lucky that we don’t have you in the barn with those damn pigs!”


MARGOT
”Judy!”

DOEMLING
”Those man eating pigs are still here?”

MARGOT
”Yes, but only until we can find someone in Sardinia to buy them back from us.”

DOEMLING
”Well, this is all very exciting, but please tell me, how are you going to deal with Lecter? If you’re brother couldn’t kill him, what makes you think that you can?”

MARGOT
”We used a source that Mason didn’t, and that would be Dr. Chilton. My brother was too stupid to consider using him, and I believe that’s what screwed him over. Plus he wouldn’t wait until Judy and I got back from our vacation to help out.”

DOEMLING
”And I wasn’t even informed on what was going on either.”

MARGOT
”Exactly. He had resources that he wouldn’t wait for.”

DOEMLING
”Here’s the critical question though, how are we going to find Hannibal Lecter?”

MARGOT
”That will come in good time Dr. Doemling. It’s all in good time.”

CUT TO:

63 EXT. FRONT OF MANSION- DAY 63

Cordell Doemling comes running down the front steps of the Verger Mansion. He turns to the side of the house and goes off toward a garage, where there is a car parked outside.

He gets in the car and starts it up. He backs up into the wraparound driveway and then pulls out toward the front exit.

Margot, Judy, Chilton, and Dr. Doemling walk around the corner of the house seeing Cordell leaving.

DOEMLING
”Where’s my brother off to in such a hurry?”

CHILTON
”You don’t know?”

DOEMLING
”No?”

MARGOT
”Did you make sure to put the tracer on him Dr. Chilton?”

CHILTON
”I sure did.”

JUDY
”I hope this works hunny. I really don’t like any of this.”

MARGOT
”Neither do I.”

CUT TO:

64 EXT. BEACH HOUSE- DAY 64

Clarice Starling gets out of a taxi in the early evening. She’s at a very big and beautiful beach house in Marathon, Florida.

Starling walks up to the front door and rings the bell. She waits, looking at the flowers beside the steps… Looking out at the cars passing by… Smelling the salty air…

Suddenly the door opens and Starling straightens herself. Standing before her is a beautiful woman with black hair. This is MOLLY GRAHAM.

MOLLY
”Can I help you?”

STARLING

“Yes. I’m Special Agent Clarice Starling. I need to talk to your husband if you don’t mind.”

MOLLY
”My husband doesn’t want to deal with any of Jack Crawford’s cronies anymore. I thought we made that clear several years ago?”

STARLING
”Yes you did. I read all about it. However, this is a matter of urgency, and Jack Crawford didn’t send me. I’m here on my own accord. And actually Mr. Crawford works for me now.”

MOLLY
”You’re in charge at Quantico now?”

STARLING

“You could say that. It’s more or less the Behavior Sciences division. Please ma’am. There isn’t much time. I need to speak to your husband immediately.”

MOLLY
(Sighing)

“He’s around back, fishing.”

STARLING
”Thank you Ms. Graham.”

Molly shakes her head, half heartedly, and closes the door. Starling starts around back…

CUT TO:

65 EXT. PIER- DAY 65

EX-SPECIAL AGENT WILL GRAHAM sits on the pier behind his house casting a fishing rod. He sits there staring out at the water.

Starling walks out onto the pier looking at Graham the whole way. She looks very concerned for him.

GRAHAM
(Not looking up)

“I do have a fishing license, but it’s in the house. I’ll go get it if you want me to.”

STARLING
(Laughing)

“I’m not with the Hunting, fishing, and game comity. I’m Special Agent Clarice Starling. I’d like to ask you a few questions.”

GRAHAM
(Now looking up)

“The Clarice Starling?”

STARLING
”That’s right.”

GRAHAM
”Well, isn’t this a lovely meeting. Lecter’s best friend meets Lecter’s girlfriend.”

STARLING
”I’m not his girlfriend.”

GRAHAM
”And I’m not his best friend. Boy does The National Tattler ever mess things up. Really bad for a guys reputation.”

STARLING
”Tell me about it.”

GRAHAM

“Have a seat Agent Starling. Would you like to join me? I have another rod in the shed.”

STARLING
”That’s quite alright. I’m here on business.”

Starling sits down.

GRAHAM
”So I gathered.”

STARLING
”I’ll get right to the point Mr. Graham. I know this is a stupid question, but you did know of Hannibal Lecter’s escape correct?”

GRAHAM

“In Memphis right?”

STARLING
”Yes.”

GRAHAM
”Yeah I heard about it. Heard that Dr. Chilton was the one held responsible.”

STARLING
”Yes that’s the gist of it. Tell me, did you ever think that Lecter might come down here to visit?”

GRAHAM
”All the damn time. I can’t get that scumbag out of my mind.”

STARLING
”I know the feeling.”

GRAHAM
”Just the sight of him makes me want to puke. I think back and I can’t breathe whenever I think of the awful things that he’s done to people, and just thinking of the fact that he’s still lose.”

STARLING
”And that he’s also been killing people, and causing other people to kill as well.”

GRAHAM

“What do you mean?”

Starling pulls out a file and hands it to Graham. He doesn’t really want to open it, but Starling shakes her head.

Graham opens the file and looks at the photo on the top.

STARLING
”That’s Donnie Barber, found in Northern Virginia. He was killed only a week ago. His sweetbreads had been removed.”

GRAHAM
”Then doesn’t that show where he is?”

STARLING
”Not really. Why would Lecter kill this man? There’s no reason for him to do that and you know it. You’re the man that caught Lecter. You and he think alike. You know that he would never kill someone without just cause. Look at the next two pictures.”

Graham moves the picture of Donnie Barber out of the way and stares at a photo of Allegra Pazzi and Agent Franco Benetti.

STARLING

(Cont.)

“These two were killed two days ago. The woman is Rinaldo Pazzi’s widow. Do you remember reading about Inspector Pazzi’s demise?”

GRAHAM
”Hanged with his bowels slashed out over the Palazzo Vecchio?”


STARLING
”Yes. Very much resembling of his ancestor, Francesco de Pazzi.”

GRAHAM
”Yes. I read all about it. Who’s the man with her?”

STARLING
”That’s Agent Franco Benetti of the Questura in Florence. I spoke with him a couple of times when Lecter was still masquerading there.”

GRAHAM
”So these people were killed in Florence?”

STARLING
”Yes.”

GRAHAM
”Sweetbreads?”

STARLING
”Taken. However, if you’ll notice there are…”

GRAHAM
”Flowers all around both bodies, and Ms. Pazzi is covering one of her breasts, while the other remains exposed, just like Il Mostro’s handy work.”

STARLING

“You’re a very educated man Mr. Graham.”

GRAHAM
”No I’m not. I just have this all-wonderful gift that everyone thinks is just the perfect thing. Well, ya know something; I don’t think it’s a wonderful gift. I think it’s a curse!”


STARLING
”To you it is a curse, and I understand that, but to the people of the FBI and the rest of the world, it’s a present sent from Heaven. Think of all the good deeds that you did that saved lives everywhere. If you hadn’t have came along, Francis Dolarhyde would still be parading around killing innocent families, and calling himself the great Red Dragon.”

GRAHAM
”And if you hadn’t have come along, then Buffalo Bill would still be skinning young women.”

STARLING
”Possibly, but you have to understand…”

GRAHAM
”What did my present sent from Heaven do for me? Huh? It didn’t save my son did it? Josh isn’t with us anymore. If it was really a present sent from Heaven, my son would still be alive right now.”

STARLING
”Stuff like that always happens. You can’t predict stuff like that. You’re not a psychic Mr. Graham.”

GRAHAM
”I know. I’m just…”

STARLING
”You could’ve never predicted that some idiot was going to be drinking and driving out at the same time as your son.”

GRAHAM
”Josh was a junior in High School. He was going to graduate next year. Next year! Do you have any idea how heartbreaking it is to lose someone that you love so much at such a young age? No parent should ever have to bury his or her son. It should always be the son burying the parent.”

STARLING
”It doesn’t always work like that.”

GRAHAM
(Sighing)

“I know. Not even having two more beautiful kids has truly helped to cleanse losing Josh. He was a one of a kind kid. He loved life. He had dozens of great friends, a girlfriend, and he wanted to be a lawyer. He would tell me that if he couldn’t do what I always did catching the bad guys, he was going to at least put them away.”

Graham breaks down and starts crying. Starling feels extremely uncomfortable.

STARLING
”Mr. Graham, I didn’t want to bring up old scars.”

GRAHAM
”It’s alright. I’m usually the one that brings them up in the first place.”

STARLING
”Mr. Graham, this is your chance to finally get over your lose. You’re sitting down here in Marathon just thinking about all of this and giving yourself all of these ‘What if’ scenarios. What you should be doing is helping the FBI catch Dr. Lecter.”


GRAHAM
”Are you crazy? I am not going to put myself or my family’s lives in danger.”

STARLING
”This is not about putting lives in danger. This is about stopping a madman before he kills anymore innocent souls. Mr. Graham, this is a once in a lifetime opportunity. Just think about this. If you could catch Lecter on your own the first time, just think of what the both of us together could accomplish.”

GRAHAM
(Shaking his head)

“I can’t. I really just can’t. There’s nothing that I can offer you.”

STARLING
”Yes there is. That gift of yours is what you can offer.”

GRAHAM
”Well, I’d love to give it to you, but apparently it won’t leave me. I’m sorry to tell you this, but I guess you’re going to have to go to your local Super Market and find your own.”

STARLING
”Mr. Graham, this is not like you. The Will Graham that Jack Crawford remembers would never find a way to make a joke out of this.”

GRAHAM
”Oh yes, Jack Crawford. I’m guessing that bastard was the one that sent you down here.”

STARLING
”No, he was against me coming down here, and that’s beside the fact that he works for me now.”

GRAHAM
”How so?”

STARLING
”He had to go on mandatory retirement about two years ago. He’s just been doing some random things at Quantico.”

GRAHAM
”Oh. Poor him.”

STARLING

“What makes you say that?”

GRAHAM
”He fell in love with the Bureau.”

STARLING
”He wasn’t the only one. I too know what that’s like.”

GRAHAM
”Well, you’re still a part of it, and since you love it so much, why don’t you go find Dr. Lecter instead of sitting down here bothering me?”

STARLING

“Because you’re not on mandatory retirement. You’re on retirement out of choice. It’s my job to try to find a way to get you back on the team.”

GRAHAM
”What team?”

STARLING
”The team at the Behavior Science Department at Quantico.”

GRAHAM
”This is ridiculous. I don’t want to be a part of this Agent Starling. What’s so hard to understand about that?”

STARLING
”Every last bit of it. You are a better man then this Agent Graham.”

GRAHAM
”I’m not an agent anymore.”

STARLING
”To me you are, and it’s time you got that through your head. You are a great agent, and I don’t want you to pass up this opportunity to save more lives. That’s what it’s all about, saving lives. That’s why you came back to stop the Red Dragon. That’s why I kept trying to get Lecter to tell me who Buffalo Bill was. That’s why I don’t feel that you’re just going to pass me up on this offer. It’s in your blood to save lives Agent Graham, and you know it a whole hell of a lot better then I do. I would kill to have the abilities that you have so I wouldn’t have to ask you to do what I know you don’t want to do, but this is something that has to be done. It’s a pain in the ass to both of us, but you know it’s the only damn way. We have to work together to stop Hannibal Lecter. Focus on that word… Together… Because that’s the word that you’re going to remember that I said most. It’s the one word that you should understand more than any other. Teamwork is how you get ahead in the FBI. I know that I haven’t done a lot of good teamwork in my time with the Bureau, but I know that I’ll have to learn sometime, and I’d be honored if that sometime was with you, Special Agent Will Graham. I’ll let you think about it, and I’ll come back in an hour to see what you’re final decision is.”

Starling stands up to leave.

STARLING
”Oh, and Jack Crawford wanted me to tell you hi for him.”

Starling starts to walk away from Graham. He stares out at the ocean and then suddenly turns toward Starling. He sighs and gets up. Graham starts running toward her.

GRAHAM
”Agent Starling!”

Starling stops and turns around.

GRAHAM
”Can my family go?”

STARLING
”Yes sir. All four of you are welcome. I’m willing to set you all up at my house with me and my roommate.”

GRAHAM
”Fine. If it means putting Lecter back behind bars, then I’ll help you.”

STARLING
(Smiling)

“You won’t regret this Agent Graham.”

GRAHAM
”Let’s hope that I don’t.”

CUT TO:

66 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 66

ARDELIA MAPP stands over an oven cooking in a couple of small pots. Suddenly the phone rings. She sighs angrily and walks over to the phone. She picks it up.

MAPP
”Hello?”

CUT TO:

67 EXT. BEACH HOUSE- DAY 67

STARLING
”Hey Ardelia. It’s me, Clarice.”

CUT TO:


68 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 68

MAPP
”Oh, hey girl! How’s Florida? Boy do I wish I was there.”

CUT TO:

69 EXT. BEACH HOUSE- DAY 69

STARLING
”I told you before, I’m only down here on official…”

CUT TO:

70 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 70

MAPP
”Police business… Yeah, yeah, yeah. Hunny child, I know this stuff already. Oh, and the mailmen are still being quite lovely to your mail.”

CUT TO:

71 EXT. BEACH HOUSE- DAY 71

STARLING
”You’re not serious! Those assholes are still going through my stuff trying to find information about Lecter?”


CUT TO:

72 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 72

MAPP
”Guess so. Ya know, after that love letter that Krendler found, who knows what you’ve been getting.”

CUT TO:


73 EXT. BEACH HOUSE- DAY 73

STARLING
”We’ve discussed this Ardelia. I never saw that damn thing before that meeting.”

CUT TO:


74 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 74

MAPP
”Alright, alright. Chill out, before I have to go get the fire extinguisher for this poor phone on my ear. Now, was there something you wanted?”

CUT TO:

75 EXT. BEACH HOUSE- DAY 75

Starling moves out of the way while Will comes out with a couple of suitcases in hand, and right behind him comes both of his children, ALEX and WHITNEY. Starling smiles as she watches them all walk toward the taxi. Molly comes out of the house next showing extreme anger toward Starling as she walks by her.

STARLING
”Yeah, Ardelia, I just wanted to tell you to expect some guests when I get back.”

CUT TO:


76 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 76

Mapp is once again stirring the food on the oven. She looks up in shock and then looks back down.

MAPP
”How many?”

CUT TO:

77 EXT. BEACH HOUSE- DAY 77

Starling squints, as she is obviously getting ready for some sort of outrage.

STARLING
”Four people.”

CUT TO:

78 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 78

Mapp is holding onto the handle for one of the pots when she hears the number of people and she lets go of the put as it crashes on the ground with a clang.

MAPP
”What!”

CUT TO:

79 EXT. BEACH HOUSE- DAY 79

MAPP
(V.O.)

“Oh, damn it all. Do you have any idea what you just made me do?”

STARLING
”Let me guess. You dropped a pot full of what we were going to call dinner right?”

CUT TO:


80 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 80

MAPP
”You’re damn right I did. And I’ve been slaving over that stove for a whole hours and now you’re telling me that you plan on bringing four people over here that I don’t even know, or do I know them?”

CUT TO:

81 EXT. BEACH HOUSE- DAY 81

STARLING
”I don’t know if you’ll know them or not.”

CUT TO:

82 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 82

MAPP
”Well, ya know what sister? I’m just going to go get myself a nice warm bath, and fix myself some leftovers, and then I’m going on to bed. If you want to have your own little party when you get back here with your little Florida friends, that’s your own damn business. Goodnight.”

CUT TO:

83 EXT. BEACH HOUSE- DAY 83

STARLING
”Ardelia, don’t be like…”

The phone clicks off.

STARLING

(Cont.)

“That.”

Starling sighs and puts her cell phone back in her purse. She walks over to join the Graham’s in putting the suitcases in the trunk of the taxi.

STARLING
(Cont.)

“You guys need some help?”

Graham is having a tuff time stuffing the suitcases into the trunk. He’s actually struggling a lot. He finally falls from all of the struggling and his kids just laugh. Molly turns around still full of hatred.

MOLLY
”We’re fine.”

Molly looks away from her. Starling sighs and puts her purse on the top of the taxi.

STARLING
”Let’s get something straight right now Ms. Graham. Your husband chose to do this. I’m not making him do anything. Now if you chose to act like this to me, that’s your own business, but I will not have you showing your ass around me, do you understand that?”

Molly turns around and stares Starling right in the eyes. They both seem to be having a little show down.

GRAHAM

“Hey kids, why don’t you all go ahead and get settled in the car.”

Alex and Whitney do as they’re told and jump into the back seat. Graham walks forward and steps between both women.

GRAHAM
(Cont.)

“Ladies. We’re all on the same side here. Now, let’s try to make this as pleasant an experience as possible. We don’t want anything bad to happen; at least I know that I don’t. So, let’s just try to make the best of this situation and get out of here before you two start throwing things, and it’ll probably start with me flying head first into the sand knowing my luck. So how about we just get out of here?”

STARLING
”Sounds good to me.”

MOLLY
”Just perfect.”

The three adults then get into the car, Molly and Graham in the back, and Starling in the front passenger seat. The car drives away.

CUT TO:

84 EXT. STORE- NIGHT 84

Dr. Hannibal Lecter emerges from a convenience store with a single shopping bag in his hands. He is wearing his long, black over coat, and his white fedora. He starts walking down the street.

Lecter looks around his shoulder kind of quickly for a millisecond, seeing a figure slowly walking behind him. He can sense that he’s being followed.

Not too far behind him is Cordell Doemling.

CORDELL
(To himself)

“Where are you going Dr. Lecter? You didn’t see me did you?”

Cordell looked away for one brief moment to catch the glimpse of something on the other side of the street. When he turns back to where Lecter was, he realizes that the doctor is gone.

CORDELL
(Cont.)

“Shit!”

Just then Cordell sees the white fedora going into a dark alley a few yards away. Cordell takes off for the alley, pushing past anyone that gets in his way.

CUT TO:

85 INT. ALLEY- NIGHT 85

Cordell stops at the entrance to the alley. It appears quite empty. There is only a single trashcan and a homeless man sitting beside a big box.

Cordell takes out a pocketknife and begins to walk slowly down the alley. He is taking extremely slow steps. His shoes sound like thunder as they pound on the ground. As he approaches the end a corner, he suddenly feels his courage leaving him. He doesn’t know if he can go on. However, he turns the corner anyway, and there in front of him is the face of Hannibal Lecter.

HANNIBAL
”Good evening Cordell.”

Lecter quickly snatches the knife away from the trembling man and holds it against his neck as Cordell backs into the wall.

HANNIBAL
”Long time no see my friend. How have you been?”

CORDELL
”Doctor… Doctor Lecter!”

HANNIBAL
”Well, it’s good to see that you still remember me. I’m glad that you do, or that would be quite rude. Now tell me, how did you manage to find me?”

Cordell tries to answer but he is gasping to heavily.

HANNIBAL
”Are you confused, because Inspector Pazzi was confused too and that’s how he ended up like he did. Now, how did you manage to find me Cordell?”

CORDELL

“Tracking device… It was in your mask. I knew if you escaped you’d want to take the mask with you as a souvenir and amazingly, you kept it.”

HANNIBAL
”Now that was rather cleaver of you, and quite dumb of myself. How long have you been following me?”

CORDELL
”I just flew over here earlier today. No one knows about you’re whereabouts but me.”

HANNIBAL
”Margot Verger?”

CORDELL
”No.”

HANNIBAL
”Not even the FBI?”

CORDELL
(Chocking a little)

“No.”

HANNIBAL
”Tell me Cordell, how would you prefer me to kill you? Pull your intestines out, strangle you, or eat you alive?”

CORDELL

“No please! Don’t do this. I’ll do anything. I promise you that no one else knows you’re here. I’m the only one. No one ever has to know. I’ll be your servant. I’ll take really good care of you.”

Hannibal stops for a moment to think.

HANNIBAL
”I’m sorry Cordell, but your time is up.”

Cordell tries to scream, but Hannibal covers up his mouth.

HANNIBAL
(Cont.)

“You’ve got a big mouth Cordell. Let’s see how it tastes.”

CORDELL
(Muffled)

“No!”

Lecter then moves his hand and chomps down on Cordell’s mouth. He then drops Cordell to the ground.

HANNIBAL
”Hmmm… You’re not that tasty. I guess you’re not as rude as I thought you were. Oh well, intestines it is.”

Lecter plunges the knife deep beneath Cordell’s flesh. He lets it dig even deeper into Cordell’s body, causing blood to spill to the ground and his intestines to start poking out. Lecter then smiles at Cordell and pulls very hard ripping the intestines right out of him. Lecter removes the knife and cleans it off.

Lecter then walks away from the bloody scene and into the shadows back toward his home.

CUT TO:

86 INT. CONTROL ROOM- NIGHT 86

Fredrick Chilton sits at a computer room in the Verger Mansion. Margot and Judy are right behind him.

JUDY
”Well, what happened to him?”

CHILTON
”I don’t know.”

MARGOT
”What do you mean you don’t know?”

CHILTON

“I mean that I have no idea where his signal went. It just completely left the trace.”

JUDY
”Is that bad for us?”

CHILTON
(Smiling)

“No. Dr. Lecter is in Newcastle, England.”

CUT TO:

87 INT. DINNING ROOM- NIGHT 87

Will Graham is sitting at the dinning room table beside his wife and kids. They are all just sitting there staring forward, saying nothing.

Clarice walks in carrying a couple of plates. She sets the plates down beside the kids. Both plates are full of nothing but Macaroni & Cheese. Both kids smile.

STARLING
”Macaroni & Cheese. Just like you wanted.”

MOLLY
”If it wasn’t so late, I’d be extremely disappointed in you Agent Starling, for only feeding that to them.”

STARLING
”They’re lucky to get that. Ardelia is the one that knows how to cook, and she’s decided all of a sudden to be a pain in my rear end. Now what did you two want?”

GRAHAM

“I’ll take anything right now. I’m just hungry.”

MOLLY
”Same here.”

STARLING
”Alright.”

Starling turns around to start back toward the kitchen, but standing right behind her is Ardelia Mapp. Starling screams as she comes face to face with Ardelia.

STARLING
”Jesus Ardelia! Have you lost your mind? You know not to do that to me.”

MAPP
”Sorry girl. Simmer down. We don’t want your temper starting a fire. I just heard voices and wanted to see who our…”

Mapp notices Graham sitting beside his wife. Her mouth drops.

MAPP
(Cont.)

“… Guests were.”

Starling turns to see that Mapp is looking at Graham. She frowns at Graham and he just shrugs his shoulders.

STARLING
”Do you know…”

MAPP
”Special Agent Will Graham!”

Mapp runs over to Graham and shakes his hand immediately.

MAPP
(Cont.)

“It is such an honor to meet you sir. I can’t believe I’m shaking hands with the man that caught Hannibal Lecter.”

GRAHAM
”Oh, please miss. You’re too kind. And your name?”

MAPP
”I’m Special Agent Ardelia Mapp. Clarice! You never told me that we’d be having such important guests. Are you crazy girlfriend? Don’t worry sir. I will fix you and your lovely wife, what’s your name sugar?”

MOLLY
”I’m Molly Graham.”

MAPP
”That’s great. I’ll fix you both up a nice juicy steak, and for the cute kids over there; I’ll cut up a couple of pieces of cherry yum yum.”

Alex and Whitney both cheer for Mapp. She smiles at them and walks off into the kitchen.

STARLING
”I can’t believe her. I couldn’t win for losing.”

GRAHAM
”What’s gotten into her?”

STARLING
”I’m afraid that I forgot something very crucial.”

MOLLY
”And that would be?”

STARLING
”Apparently, Ardelia’s your biggest fan. And don’t tell her I said this, but I think she kind of had a crush on you for a long time.”

Molly looks over at Graham. Graham looks a little embaraced.

GRAHAM
”Don’t worry hunny. I’m sure she’ll be ok in a few hours. Once she’s gotten used to us, she’ll be over it. I’m sure of these things.”

MOLLY
”For your sake, I hope you’re right.”

GRAHAM
”Maybe it would be better if we went and stayed at a hotel.”

STARLING
”Don’t be ridiculous. You’re perfectly fine here. Besides, I haven’t had such inspirational visitors in this house for a long time.”

GRAHAM
”Inspirational visitors? You seriously need to get some more interesting friends if that’s the case.”

STARLING

(Smiling)
”You’re probably right.”

Mapp suddenly comes back in the room carrying two plates of cherry yum yum. She sits the plates on the table in front of the children. They both cheer.

MAPP
”Now don’t you two start worrying. You’re steaks will be done in a few minutes.”

STARLING
”Ardelia, you’re acting like an Anta Momma. Why don’t you go back to bed?”

MAPP
”Didn’t it ever happen to occur to you that I might want to serve our guests?”

STARLING
”Not after you got angry with me over the phone!”

MAPP
”Well, I changed my mind. I have a right to do that don’t I?”

STARLING
”Well, as long as this mind is a little less moody, I’ll be just fine.”

Graham and Molly start giggling. The kids try to as well, but have their mouths full.

Graham starts sniffing.

GRAHAM
”Is something burning?”


MAPP
”The steaks!”

Mapp runs off into the kitchen. Everyone starts laughing.

CUT TO:

88 EXT. QUANTICO HEADQUARTERS- DAY 88

Jack Crawford gets out of his car and starts walking up to the front entrance of the building. He walks up the steps to the front door and enters.

CUT TO:

89 INT. HALLWAY- DAY 89

Crawford walks into the door only to have someone walk up to him. It’s Eric Pickford.

ERIC
”I’m glad you’re here Mr. Crawford.”

CRAWFORD
”Why is that Eric?”

ERIC
”There’s someone on the phone that’s wanting to talk to Agent Starling very badly. I tried explaining to him that she’s not here yet, but he does not understand. Perhaps you could make him understand sir.”

CRAWFORD

“I’ll do my best.”

Crawford starts walking away from Eric.

ERIC

“He’s on line three sir.”

CRAWFORD
”Of course. Thank you.”

CUT TO:

90 INT. OFFICE- DAY 90

Crawford walks into Starling’s office and sits down in the chair behind the desk. He picks up the phone.

CRAWFORD
”Hello sir, I’m Mr. Jack Crawford. Agent Starling isn’t here right now, but if you can tell me what the problem is, I’ll be able to help you, and I’ll relay any messages to Starling that you’d like.”

Crawford listens to what the person on the other line is saying. Crawford’s eyes suddenly enlarge.

CRAWFORD
”Could you tell me that again?”

CUT TO:


91 INT. WEIGHT ROOM- DAY 91

Margot Verger is bench-pressing in her weight room in the lower levels of the Verger Mansion. She seems to be doing a very good job with lifting all of the weight, and it’s easy to tell that there is a lot of it on the bar. However she is also showing fatigue in her body as sweet roles down her face.

Margot strains with the last press, but amazingly get it up and then put the bar back on its holder. She then looks up hearing the sound of feet coming down the stairwell. She looks over to see Judy coming down.

Judy walks over to her and smiles as she sits down on a large exercise ball and starts bouncing around.

JUDY
”Have a good workout?”

MARGOT
”I guess.”

JUDY
”What’s wrong baby?”

MARGOT
”I’m just really pissed right now.”

JUDY
”Why?”

MARGOT
”I know Cordell lied to me.”

JUDY
”About what?”

MARGOT
”About how my brother died. Do you honestly believe that Cordell was really asleep when everything happened in the barn? And how did Lecter manage to through Mason into the pit with the pigs if he was down there with them in the first place.”

JUDY
”Are you trying to say that you think Cordell killed your brother?”

MARGOT
”That’s exactly what I’m saying.”

JUDY
”That’s just silly. Why would Cordell want to kill Mason? Your brother was the best thing that ever happened to him. He had a great job and a lot of money to top it off. That’s just ridiculous. Besides, Cordell might have just been really tired, and you have to remember that Mason had those three Sardinians with him. Perhaps they had brought him down there. Remember that one of them was lying in the loft where your brother was supposed to have been in the first place? He could’ve betrayed your brother and tossed him in right before he was killed by Agent Starling.”

MARGOT
”Or Starling could’ve shot Mason and caused him to fall into the pit.”

JUDY

“That’s right. You don’t know for sure that Cordell did your brother in.”

MARGOT
(Smiling)

“You’re right. What would I ever do without you?”

JUDY
”You’d probably be spending all your time working out instead of having fun.”

MARGOT

(Laughing)

“More then likely.”

JUDY
”Come on. We’ve got to get ready to go. Dr. Doemling is already here and Dr. Chilton is going mad. You know how doctors are. They’re extremely impatient. We should probably go ahead and get on up there. We have a trip remember?”

MARGOT
”I know. I just don’t know if this is all worth it anymore.”

JUDY
”Neither do I, but we’ve still got Chilton to worry about. You’re the one that let him out, and now he’s a lose cannon.”

MARGOT
”I know. Well, come on. Let’s get this shit over with.”

The two ladies start toward the steps and leave the weight room.

CUT TO:

92 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 92

Clarice Starling lies in bed sound asleep. She seems at peace with herself as she sighs. Suddenly her telephone rings. She awakens immediately and rolls her eyes.

Starling sits up and picks up the phone.

STARLING
”Hello?”

CUT TO:

93 INT. OFFICE- DAY 93

CRAWFORD
”Starling, its Crawford.”

CUT TO:

94 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 94

STARLING
”Mr. Crawford do you have any idea what time it is?”

CUT TO:

95 INT. OFFICE- DAY 95

CRAWFORD

(Looking at his watch)

“Did I wake you?”

CUT TO:

96 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 96

STARLING
(Smiling)

“Don’t you always?”

CUT TO:


97 INT. OFFICE- DAY 97

CRAWFORD
”I’m sorry about that Starling. However, I’m sure this will brighten your day.”

CUT TO:

98 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 98

STARLING
”Unless I won the lottery, I really don’t think it will.”

CUT TO:

99 INT. OFFICE- DAY 99

CRAWFORD
”This is better. We just got a call through Interpol. Apparently the police in Newcastle, England found a body in a back alley last night. You won’t believe who it was.”

CUT TO:

100 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 100

STARLING
”Who?”

CUT TO:

101 INT. OFFICE- DAY 101

CRAWFORD
”Cordell Doemling.”

CUT TO:

102 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 102

STARLING
(Confused)

“Mason Verger’s nurse?”

CUT TO:

103 INT. OFFICE- DAY 103

CRAWFORD
”One in the same. He was found with his lips chewed off, and his sweetbreads and liver had been removed.”

CUT TO:


104 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 104

STARLING
”We’ve been getting a lot of those lately.”

CUT TO:

105 INT. OFFICE- DAY 105

CRAWFORD
”There’s something else Starling. There was DNA left where Cordell’s lips used to be. It’s was Lecter’s DNA.”

CUT TO:

106 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 106

STARLING
”Are you serious sir?”

CUT TO:


107 INT. OFFICE- DAY 107

CRAWFORD
”Totally. This is the real deal Starling. We’ve got him!”

CUT TO:

108 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 108

STARLING
”That’s great sir. What do you suggest we do?”

CUT TO:

109 INT. OFFICE- DAY 109

CRAWFORD
”That’s your call Starling.”

CUT TO:


110 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 110

STARLING
”Oh, that’s right. Get the jet prepared for three, sir. We’re going on a little trip.”

CUT TO:

111 INT. OFFICE- DAY 111

CRAWFORD
”Three?”

CUT TO:

112 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 112

STARLING
”Yes. I have someone special coming with us.”

CUT TO:

113 INT. OFFICE- DAY 113

CRAWFORD
(Smiling)

“Alright Starling. I’ll have it ready for your arrive.”

CUT TO:

114 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 114

STARLING
”Thank you sir. See you in a few.”

Starling hangs up the phone, smiles, and gets out of the bed.

CUT TO:

115 EXT. AIRPORT- DAY 115

Jack Crawford stands outside the Culpeper Regional Airport. He is looking around at all of the planes moving down the airstrips as the wind blows. He wraps his coat around him and crosses his arms to keep warm.

Suddenly someone speaks from behind him…

GRAHAM

(O.S.)

“You always were a warm blood.”

Crawford turns around and smiles with surprise and delight. He hugs Graham as they both laugh.

CRAWFORD
”It’s good to see you again Will.”

GRAHAM

“The feeling’s mutual Jack.”

Crawford then looks past Graham to see Molly walking forward beside Starling. Mapp is hanging behind with the kids, because they’ve apparently taken up with the woman.

CRAWFORD
”Hello Molly.”

Molly seems a little annoyed.

MOLLY
”Hi Jack.”

CRAWFORD

“It’s been quite awhile.”

MOLLY
”Yes it has. It was quite nice.”

Crawford’s smile fades.

GRAHAM

“Molly.”

CRAWFORD
”It’s alright. I understand how she feels.”

MOLLY
”Do you really?”

STARLING
Why don’t we go ahead and get onboard? Ardelia, can you see after our guests while Mr. Graham and I are away.”

MAPP
”Sure thing babe.”

STARLING
”Thanks. We’ll be back soon.”

Graham walks over to Molly.

GRAHAM
”We’ll be back soon.”

MOLLY
”You come back in one piece this time.”

GRAHAM
(Smiling)

“You know me.”

MOLLY
”That’s right, and you’d better watch yourself.”

GRAHAM
”Don’t worry, I will.”

Graham bends down to Alex and Whitley. He hugs both of them at the same time.

GRAHAM
(Cont.)

“I’ll be back soon. You won’t even know that I’m gone. Besides, you both have Ardelia to drive insane.”

Both kids giggle.

WHITNEY
”I’ll miss you.”

ALEX
”Yeah, we’ll miss you daddy.”

GRAHAM
”I’ll miss you both too.”

Graham lets go of the hug and just looks at them both.

GRAHAM
”I’m very proud of both of you. You take care of your mommy while I’m gone now, ok?”

ALEX
”Ahuh.”

WHITNEY

“We will.”

GRAHAM
”I have to go now.”

Graham stands up and walks over to Starling and Crawford. He turns around and waves at Molly and the kids. They all wave, and so does Mapp. She is waving quite excitedly and is expressing a very big smile. Graham shakes his head and gets on board the jet with Starling and Crawford.

CUT TO:

116 INT. JET- DAY 116

Crawford, Starling, and Graham all take their seats in the jet and buckle up.

CUT TO:

117 EXT. AIRPORT- DAY 117

Molly, Alex, Whitney, and Mapp all watch as the Jet takes off down the runway and goes off into the air.

CUT TO:

118 EXT. LITHUANIAN FIELDS- DAY 118

Dr. Hannibal Lecter walks around on an empty field. He seems to be on what used to be a plantation. He sighs to himself as he looks around at what he’s seeing.

We zoom into Hannibal’s Memory Palace again…

CUT TO:

119 INT. MANSION- DAY 119

The young Hannibal sits beside Mischa in a very large living room. Sitting beside them is their parents. They are all drinking tea and smiling, as they talk of their daily routine.

A servant walks by and places a newspaper on the table. COUNT HANNIMOUNT LECTER picks it up and smiles at the headlines. They say that the Nazis have retreated away from Russia.

The Count shares the news with his family as they all celebrate happily. The Count and his wife get up and start dancing around on the floor. Hannibal and Mischa still sit, watching in awe at what they see.

Suddenly gunshots are heard as the windows in the house begin to break from the gunfire. The walls are being shot as well as paintings fall to the floor. Hannibal and Mischa duck to the ground as they watch in horror as their parents are both hit from the gunfire.

Both the Count and Countess fall to the floor, blood pouring out of their heads. Hannibal and Mischa both crawl over to their parents and lay there beside them as the front doors are broken into. Several Nazis come pouring into the room. One of them points over to both children.

Hannibal and Mischa stand and start backing away, but it’s no use as they’re taken into the custody of the Nazis and led out along with two surviving servants of the family. The two kids look back at their dead parents for the last time.

CUT TO:

120 EXT. LITHUANIAN FIELDS- DAY 120

We zoom out of Hannibal’s memory palace to see that he is crying. He is looking directly at the remains of what once was his home when he was younger.

Hannibal sighs and begins walking away from the fields and back toward his rental car.

CUT TO:

121 EXT. JET- EVENING 121

Starling, Graham, and Crawford emerge from the jet in the pouring rain. They are at Newcastle Airport in England. A man in an official uniform of the police in England comes running up to them and runs with them to the terminal. This man looks to be a rookie, because of how nervous he seems. This is LAIN PINCKNEY.

LAIN
”Good afternoon gentlemen and miss. I’m Lieutenant Lain Pinckney. We need to get you guys on out there.”

CRAWFORD
”Were you able to keep the crime scene like it was?”

LAIN
”They were really mad that they couldn’t move the body, but they agreed. Everything is like it was when the body was found after they found the DNA. Let’s just hope that they haven’t started doing anything besides taking pictures.”

CUT TO:

122 INT. ALLEY- EVENING 122

The three agents all stand in the same alley where Cordell was killed. They are looking down at the body of the late Cordell along with Lieutenant Pinckney and several other people. Most of them are press trying to get pictures, but there are a few other cops in the alley.

CRAWFORD
”Lecter’s 23rd victim.”

STARLING
”Any witnesses?”

LAIN
”There was one homeless man, but he claims to have been asleep and when he heard the screams, he got up and ran off.”

GRAHAM

“So the DNA signature was found, and that was all that you guys did to the body before you called us?”

LAIN

“That’s correct.”

Graham bends down over the body and starts searching through Cordell’s pockets.

STARLING
”I don’t get it. How did Cordell know that Lecter was here?”

GRAHAM

“I think I can answer that.”

Graham stands back up and is holding the small tracking device that Cordell was using earlier to locate Lecter.

GRAHAM
(Cont.)

“Have any idea why he might need this?”

STARLING
”Cordell must’ve slapped a transmitter on Lecter’s body somehow when he was still in Mason Verger’s care.”

GRAHAM
”Lecter would’ve noticed it whenever he took a shower.”

STARLING
”Perhaps he put it under Lecter’s skin. There’s no telling how long Dr. Lecter was unconscious when he was in Verger’s clutches.”

CRAWFORD
”Well, why didn’t Lecter take this device with him after he killed the man?”

STARLING
”Lecter probably didn’t have the time to consider Cordell’s device. He had just killed a man, and he knew that we were going to be hinted of his newest killing.”

Suddenly Starling’s cell phone starts ringing. She sighs angrily and answers it.

STARLING

(Cont.)
”Starling… Oh, hey Eric. You have anything… Oh, God… Are you sure? Alright, keep me posted.”

Starling hangs the phone up.

STARLING
(Cont.)

“Well, we know who killed Donnie Barber now.”

Crawford looks over at Graham and back over at Starling. She doesn’t seem to want to indicate who it was.

CRAWFORD
”Would you like to share with us?”

STARLING
”Oh, yeah. Sorry. I’m a bit distracted. Cordell killed him.”

GRAHAM
”That doesn’t make sense. Why would Cordell kill that man for no reason?”

STARLING
”But he did have a reason Mr. Graham. He was throwing us off Lecter’s trail, because he knew where Lecter was, and he wanted to turn him over to the police and collect some kind of award.”

CRAWFORD
”Jesus. What is with them people and wanting money for a monster? They all end up dead every time. How was a print found? We didn’t find anything.”

STARLING
”Dr. Hollingsworth found a hidden print somewhere in the man’s back. It was very partial, but there.”

Crawford nods.

STARLING

(Cont.)
”Well, we can’t stay here any longer. Lecter may flee the city if we’re not careful. He probably already knows that we’ll be back on his trail very soon anyway.”

GRAHAM
”How are we going to catch him? Newcastle is quite big.”

Starling looks down at the device in Graham’s hands.

STARLING
”Crank that baby up and let’s see where it leads us.”

Starling starts walking away leaving both men behind.

GRAHAM
”So, this is who you replaced me with huh? Sometimes I just don’t know about your decisions Jack.”

CRAWFORD
”Tell me about it.”

Both men start walking away from the crime scene.

CUT TO:

123 INT. AIRPORT- EVENING 123

Dr. Fredrick Chilton sits in a chair at a terminal in the same airport that Starling, Graham, and Crawford were in before. Sitting beside him on each side is Margot Verger and Dr. Chris Doemling. Judy Ingram is sitting beside Margot. They all seem very fatigued.

Chilton is however looking at a device that looks very similar to Cordell’s tracking mechanism. There is a small dot beeping on the screen.

Chilton stands up and walks over to a window. He smiles and turns to the others. He motions them over to the window.

They all look out at what Chilton is staring at. He is looking right at a plane that has just landed and people are getting out. There is one in particular that is wearing a white fedora and sunglasses.

CHILTON
”There he is. Are you guys ready for this?”

MARGOT
”You’d better believe it.”

DOEMLING
”I’d feel a little odd about this.”

CHILTON
”Look, I’m sorry about your brother, but we have to stay on target here. If you’re not up to what we’re doing, then you can go home empty handed.”

DOEMLING
”And let you three take all of the reward money? I don’t think so.”

CHILTON

(Smiling)
”That’s the old Doemling that I remember.”

JUDY
”Shouldn’t you be getting somewhere out of site Dr. Chilton?”

CHILTON
”Oh, shit! I forgot all about that. I’ll be waiting in the rental car. Good luck to all three of you.”

Chilton starts to walk off, but turns back around once more.

CHILTON
(Cont.)

“And may God protect you all.”

He then turns back around and starts leaving very quickly. Everyone watches in amusement as Chilton leaves.

JUDY
”That man’s got issues.”

MARGOT
”Alright, let’s get in places.”

All three of them scatter around to different places in the crowded Airport hallway. There are dozens of people filing in from all over the place, obviously trying to catch their flights as fast as they can.

Hannibal Lecter comes into the hallway and begins walking quickly toward his exit. He seems to be in a hurry, but not too much of a hurry. He is walking in his normal, elegant nature, which is what really makes it seem that he’s not rushed, but in reality he is rushed.

Dr. Doemling peeks around a corner seeing Lecter only a few feet away. He quickly moves back behind his corner hoping that the doctor didn’t see him. He sighs with relief as Lecter goes right past him and continues going. Doemling moves out and starts mingling into the crowd like he was just another tourist.

Margot sits in a seat looking at the huge windows in the airport. She is busy putting together a tranquilizer gun. She inserts a dart into the gun and turns her head slightly to see Lecter walking past her, still going toward the exit.

Margot gets up and starts casually walks over to where Dr. Doemling is and they both start walking side by side.

Judy moves in beside the other two as well right after Lecter passes her. All three of them do their best not to look directly at Lecter, for they have been warned not to do so.

Lecter continues out of the airport building. The three pursuers follow.

CUT TO:

124 EXT. AIRPORT- EVENING 124

Lecter emerges from the building. Chilton sees him from the driver’s seat of his rental car. He then notices his three cohorts come out of the airport as well. Chilton’s eyes are full of rage. He is very tempted to just run Lecter over… he tries to restrain himself. He grips the steering wheel tightly and takes a deep breath. However, the rage racing through his head is too intense. 

Chilton slams on the gas pedal and the rental car speeds off going right toward Lecter. Lecter continues walking, almost oblivious to the car. However, he suddenly looks up hearing the car getting really close and really quickly.

The car suddenly slams right into Dr. Lecter as he goes flying onto the windshield and rolls right off of the car.

Margot, Judy, and Dr. Doemling stop in their tracks, not believing what they just saw. Chilton rolls down the window on his side and sticks his head out.

CHILTON
”What are you three waiting for, Christmas? Get him in the trunk!”

The three of them slowly walk over to the other side of the car and pick Lecter up. However, as they are moving him toward the back of the car, they can suddenly here someone running toward them from the front entrance of the airport. It’s a security guard.

GUARD
”Hey! What the hell is going on here?”

The quickly show Lecter into the trunk and jump into the car before the guard can get to them.

The guard gets ready to go back into the airport to file a report, but he stops himself when he sees a police car pull up. He walks over to the car as the people get out. It’s Starling, Graham, Crawford, and Lain.

GUARD
(Cont.)

“I need to report a kidnapping here.”

LAIN

“What happened?

GUARD
”Four people, two women and two men, loaded a customer of ours into a trunk after the driver of the car ran over him.”

STARLING
”What was the man wearing?”

GUARD
”A white fedora, sunglasses, and I believe everything else was black. The man seemed quite elegant and in his mid to upper fifties or sixties.”

GRAHAM
”Sounds like the good doctor.”

CRAWFORD
”Thank you for your time sir. Mr. Pinckney, if you would Lieutenant please finish questioning this man. Do you mind if we borrow your car?”

LAIN

“Umm, I’m not sure that’s such a good…”

CRAWFORD
”Thank you Lieutenant. We’ll be sure to bring it back to you.”

The three Feds get into the car and take off in hot pursuit of the get away rental car.

LAIN
”FBI. They think they own the whole planet.”

CUT TO:

125 EXT. STREETS- NIGHT 125

The sun has set and a high-speed chase has just begun on a major road as the car that Crawford is driving chases after the getaway car being driven by Dr. Chilton. 

Chilton’s car goes extremely fast down the roads, turning curves extremely sharply and even brushing up against parked cars on the road.

CUT TO:

126 INT. COP CAR- NIGHT 126

Crawford is busy driving the cop car at an unsafe speed himself. Graham is not wearing his seatbelt for some reason is being tossed back and forth in the back seat of the car.

CRAWFORD
”It would be really helpful if you were wearing your seat belt Will.”

GRAHAM
”Well, I didn’t realize that we’d be enlisting in the Indy 500!”


CRAWFORD
”Starling, would you be so kind as to turn on the police siren?”

STARLING
”Mr. Crawford, we can follow them via tracking device. We don’t have to go at tops speeds here. It’s bad enough that they are.”

CRAWFORD
”There’s no time for that Starling. Who knows what they’ll do to Lecter if we don’t catch them now.”

Starling sighs and turns on the flashing lights above the car. Crawford sighs and returns his full attention to the road as he continues to follow the other car.

CUT TO:

127 INT. RENTED CAR- NIGHT 127

Chilton constantly looks back at the cop car behind him as he continues to drive.

MARGOT
”Could you consider slowing down?”

CHILTON
”Oh, sure, we’ll slow down! It’s not like we don’t have a the police on our asses!”

JUDY

“Oh, God we’re going to jail. I can’t go to jail! I won’t survive on minute in that awful hell hole!”

MARGOT
”Calm down Judy. No one’s going to jail. Not tonight. Fred, do you have any idea where we’re going?”

CHILTON
”Nope, but right now I’m just trying to lose them.”

Doemling looks back at the still closely approaching cop car.

DOEMLING

“Well, you’re sure doing a lovely job at it!”

CHILTON
”Would you shut up!”

MARGOT
”You’d better find some way to lose them soon. This is getting ridiculous. I think we’re going down all the same streets. They’re going to pick up on a pattern soon and have us surrounded.”

CHILTON
”Fine! I’ll get onto a motorway!”


CUT TO:

128 EXT. STREET- NIGHT 128

Chilton turns off onto a nearby entry ramp and enters an extremely busy motorway.

CUT TO:

129 INT. COP CAR- NIGHT 129

CRAWFORD
”Shit! We’re going to loose them up there.”

STARLING
”Well, don’t worry about losing them sir, we’ve still got…”

CRAWFORD
”That doesn’t matter right now. I won’t Lecter caught alive. If we let them get ahead of us we’ll loose that opportunity.”

GRAHAM
”Would you rather loose the possibility of catching him alive, or cause people up there on the motorway to get injured or killed in your chasing?”

Crawford hits the steering wheel in anger.

CRAWFORD
”You’re right Will.”

STARLING
”Please calm down Mr. Crawford. We’ll get um. Just not as soon as you wanted.”

GRAHAM
”We’ve just got to continue following the tracking signal and we’ll get them sure as the world.”

CRAWFORD
”Alright. I’ll let the little computer thing take over from here.”

Starling and Graham laugh as Crawford eases on the accelerator and goes up onto the motorway. Starling takes the tracking device from Graham and starts looking at it herself.

CUT TO:

130 INT. CHURCH- NIGHT 130

Dr. Hannibal Lecter is stretched across a cross with his arms tied to each end of the cross. He looks very much like Jesus when he was crucified. However the cross isn’t hanging up. It’s leaning against a preacher’s podium.

Margot Verger walks up to Lecter and lightly smacks him a couple of times on the side of the face.

Dr. Lecter opens his one good eye. Apparently the other had been swollen shut from being hit by the car earlier.

HANNIBAL

“I like that liniment, it smells cool and lemony. It’s good to see you again Margot.”

MARGOT
”That’s exactly what you said to me when the matron brought me into your office the first day. When they were doing presentencing on Mason the first time.”

HANNIBAL

“Is that what I said?”

MARGOT
”Yes. I was crying, dreading to tell you about Mason and me. I was dreading having to sit down too. But you never asked me to sit… you knew I had stitches, didn’t you? We walked in the garden. Do you remember what you told me?”

HANNIBAL
”You were no more at fault for what happened to you…”

MARGOT
”… Than if I had been bitten on the behind by a mad dog’ was what you said. You made it easy for me then, and the other visits too, and I appreciated it for a while.”

HANNIBAL
”What else did I tell you?”

MARGOT
”You said you were much weirder than I would ever be. You said it was all right to be weird.”

HANNIBAL

“If you try, you can remember everything we ever said. Remember…”

MARGOT
”Please don’t beg me now.”

HANNIBAL

“Why are you doing this Margot, certainly not because of your brother. I would’ve thought that knew that it was Cordell that pushed Mason into the pigs.”

MARGOT
”Actually I didn’t know until a couple of days ago.”

HANNIBAL
”Tisk, tisk, tisk, my dear. I thought you were smarter then that.”

Margot slaps Lecter in the face.

MARGOT
”I could kill you right now.”

HANNIBAL
”Yes, but you won’t. You don’t have it in you to kill someone do you Margot? You’re not the big cheese in this plan are you? Who’s really running the show Margot?”

MARGOT
”That will be revealed in due time doctor.”

HANNIBAL
”It’s not too late for you and Judy. You both can still be together and just put all of this behind you. All you have to do is let me go.”

MARGOT
”I can’t do that Dr. Lecter.”

HANNIBAL
”And why not? Is it because you’re too big a chicken to do it?”

MARGOT
”That’s not true!”

HANNIBAL
”Then let me go.”

MARGOT
”No!”

Margot turns and runs out of the main room and into a side room. Lecter sighs and looks at what is restraining him to the cross.

Suddenly Dr. Chris Doemling comes into the room carrying intravenous bottles under his arms, tubes dangling from them.

DOEMLING

“I have good news for you Dr. Lecter. In just a few minutes you will be killed quite beautifully. However, I’d like to talk like we’re a couple of medical people. I could give you something that would just stop your heart. Want to see it?”

Lecter just stares at the man strangely.

DOEMLING

(Cont.)

“You’ve got lots of money, Dr. Lecter. Everybody says so. I know how this stuff works… I put money around in places too. Take it out, move it, fuss with it. I can move mine on the phone and I bet you can too.”

Doemling pulls his cell phone from out of his pocket.

DOEMLING

(Cont)

“We’ll call your banker, you can tell him a code, he’ll confirm to me and I’ll fix you right up. Talk to me.”

HANNIBAL

(Mumbling)

Suitcase… Locker… Unmarked hundreds…”

Doemling leans closer and Dr. Lecter strikes to the length of his neck, catching Doemling’s eyebrow in his small sharp teeth and rips a sizeable piece of it out as Doemling leaps backward.

Doemling falls onto one of the bleachers out in the audience area in pain. He pulls out some things to try to stop the blood flow.

HANNIBAL

(Cont.)

“I remember you Dr. Doemling. You were the man that came to interview me that I teased so much, you ran off crying. You were quite pathetic and still are. Obviously your brother was no different for the most part, but at least he had some balls unlike you.”

DOEMLING
”Go to hell you bastard. I’m going to enjoy what’s about to happen to you.”

Dr. Doemling walks off in the direction that Margot went. Lecter sighs and puts his head back down.

CHILTON
(O.S.)

“You’re just as annoying as you were all that long ago Hannibal.”

Dr. Lecter lifts up his head and looks around.

CHILTON
(Cont.)

“I still don’t see to this day how you managed to keep out of the reaches of the law for this long. You’re quite a tricky individual. But you’ve met your match Hannibal. This time there’s no glass between us. No cages to hold either of us back, as well as very few restraints holding you down. And most of all…”

Dr. Chilton comes out of the shadows.

CHILTON

(Cont.)

“No Barney Matthews.”

HANNIBAL

(Smiling)

“Good evening Dr. Chilton.”

CHILTON
”Yes, and I do believe it will be your last.”

HANNIBAL
”I always knew that we’d meet up again, old Nemesis’ brought back together at last for one final showdown. My that sounds like fun.”

CHILTON
”Oh, and it will be, for me. You however, won’t get to experience any fun out of it. This is for my own pleasure and satisfaction.”

HANNIBAL
”I’m sure it is. Did you happen to see what I did to your little Dr. Doemling?”

CHILTON
”I was in the shadows the whole time. I wanted to know exactly what you said to each of them. It was a final test you could say.”

HANNIBAL
”A test? I see. That’s quite cleaver of you. Did I pass?”

CHILTON
(Laughing)

“Oh, Hannibal, I will so miss the rivalry. It was something of great passion.”

HANNIBAL
”Indeed it was, but as I once told a friend, all good things must come to an end.”

Chilton pulls out a loaded handgun and points it up to Hannibal’s head.

CHILTON
”Indeed they should. And so ends the chapter of Hannibal Lecter.”

Suddenly there is the sound a police siren. Dr. Chilton turns around in shock not knowing what to do.

HANNIBAL
”Oh, what a shame. Looks like it’s not quite over.”

Margot, Judy, and Dr. Doemling come running out of the back room and join Chilton’s side in front of Lecter as the front door to the church suddenly blasts open revealing Starling, Graham, and Crawford.

Chilton panics when he realizes whom it is and starts running toward the back of the church. The others turn to do the same, but stop when they hear a warning shot.

STARLING
”FBI! Freeze!”

The three others stop where they are and just stand there.

STARLING
”Put your hands in the air!”

All three of them follow the instructions.

JUDY
”Oh, god. This isn’t good.”

MARGOT
”Shut up Judy.”

STARLING
”Quite! Both of you!”

The three of them move forward.

HANNIBAL
”Good evening Clarice.”

STARLING
”Stay quite Dr. Lecter.”

GRAHAM
”I’m going after the other one.”

STARLING
”I’ll go with you. Do you have these four covered, Mr. Crawford?”

CRAWFORD
”Completely.”

GRAHAM
”Who was it that went that way Lecter?”

HANNIBAL
”Hello Will. It’s so good to see you again after so…”

GRAHAM
”Who!”

HANNIBAL
”Dr. Fredrick Chilton.”

STARLING
”What!”

GRAHAM
”There’s no time for explanations Clarice, let’s just move!”

Graham moves on ahead of Starling. Starling takes one last glance at Lecter and then starts on her way following Graham.

CUT TO:

131 EXT. CHURCH- NIGHT 131

Dr. Chilton runs out the backdoor of the church and straight into a forest.

CUT TO:

132 INT. CHURCH- NIGHT 132

Crawford still has his gun pointed directly at all four suspects. He suddenly hears a loud noise in the bleachers and he turns his head just long enough for Margot to jump him. She tackles Crawford to the floor and fights him for the gun. However, the gun goes flying out of Crawford’s hands and into the bleachers.

Judy and Dr. Doemling run over to help Margot.

MARGOT
”Get a good grip on him and for heaven’s sake, don’t let go.”

CRAWFORD
”This is assault on an officer of the law! You will all burn for this!”
MARGOT
”Oh can it. You’re just some lowly office boy now.”

Margot runs over to Lecter and begins untying him.

MARGOT
(Cont.)

“Don’t make me regret this Dr. Lecter.”

HANNIBAL
”Wouldn’t dream of it.”

Margot finishes with the untying and Lecter rolls himself off of the cross. He then brushes himself off and picks up his hat. He puts it on his head and walks over to Crawford. He bends down to him.

HANNIBAL
(Cont.)

“It’s always a pleasure doing business with you Jack. Hope to do so again very soon.”

Lecter smiles and walks away out the same direction that Chilton, Graham, and Clarice went.

CUT TO:

133 INT. FOREST- NIGHT 133

Starling and Graham are both running side by side in the forest trying to find Dr. Chilton.

GRAHAM
”Split up! We’ll cover more ground!”


STARLING
”Gottcha!”

Both agents go off in opposite directions. Starling continues to run deeper into the forest. She has no clue where she’s going really. All she knows is that the suspect is somewhere in this forest.

She suddenly stops as she starts hearing breathing and movement off to one side of her. She steadies her on breathing and listens in.

Suddenly a shadow passes over her and hits her in the head with the butt of the gun twice before she falls to the ground with a thump.

Chilton stands there shaking. He has no idea what to do. He points the gun directly at her head and gets ready to pull the trigger.

He stops himself however as he hears someone moving behind him. Chilton turns around to see a flashlight come on in front of the other man’s face. It’s Dr. Lecter!

HANNIBAL
”Hello again Dr. Chilton.”

Chilton stands there in complete shock. He can’t run. He is motionless with fear. Lecter pulls a knife out of his pocket.

HANNIBAL
”Do not approach the glass!”

Hannibal slashes Chilton in the face with the knife. Chilton screams.

CUT TO:

134 INT. ANOTHER SECTION OF FOREST- NIGHT 134

Graham can hear Chilton’s screams in the air. They are quite faint, but he tries his best to locate them. He starts running off in one direction, and then changes his mind and goes off in a completely different one.

CUT TO:

135 INT. OTHER PART OF FOREST- NIGHT 135

HANNIBAL
”Do not touch the glass!”

Lecter slashes Chilton once more in the arm.

HANNIBAL

(Cont.)

“Pass nothing but soft paper!”

Another slash.

HANNIBAL
(Cont.)

“No pens…”

Slash.

HANNIBAL
(Cont.)

“No pencils…”

Slash. Chilton screams again and falls to the ground.

HANNIBAL
”I’m going to enjoy this Fredrick.”

Dr. Lecter bends down over Chilton and starts feasting off of his face as Chilton continues to scream his lungs out. Blood pours from his face onto the ground.

GRAHAM
(O.S.)

“Agent Starling!”

Lecter looks up in shock. He stands up and runs over to where Starling is laying and looks her over. It appears almost as if she’s dead, but Lecter knows she isn’t. He gets ready to pick her up, but suddenly sees something lying beside her. It’s the tracking device! Hannibal smiles and brings his foot down on it, smashing the device instantly. He then picks Starling up and runs through the woods away from Graham’s voice.

Graham suddenly emerges from the thick foliage and sees Dr. Chilton’s body all mangled. He turns around and tries to catch his breath. Then his eyes enlarge and he turns back around to look at the body again.

GRAHAM
”Jack!”

CUT TO:

136 INT. CHURCH- NIGHT 136

Crawford uses all of his strength to flip both Dr. Doemling and Judy onto their backs and stands up. He runs for where his gun flew as Margot runs after him.

Both of them run around the bleachers while Crawford tries his best to find the gun. He is successful and grabs hold of it. However, Margot grabs him from behind and holds onto him tightly. Dr. Doemling comes running up to the front and tries to take the gun away from Crawford, but he pulls the trigger accidentally in the process and the shot sends Dr. Doemling flying into the wall. He crashes to the ground as blood pours from his head.

Crawford pushes Margot off of him, and she falls to the floor crashing into a couple of bleachers. Judy runs over to console Margot. Crawford points his gun at her.

CRAWFORD
”Freeze damn it!”

Judy stops in her tracks. She just stands there staring at her lover in sadness.

Will Graham runs back into the church out of breath. He is extremely happy to see that Crawford is still alive.

GRAHAM
”What happened?”

CRAWFORD
”They over powered me. There were three of them and one of me. Margot let Lecter go.”

GRAHAM
”I know. He killed Dr. Chilton and he’s kidnapped Clarice.”

Crawford stands there in disbelief at how badly this had all went down. He lowers his eyes and slowly begins to cry to himself.

CUT TO:

137 INT. BEDROOM- MORNING 137

Clarice Starling is lying on a bed. Dr. Lecter sits beside her a few feet back just watching her. She suddenly awakens and sits up.

HANNIBAL
”Good morning, Clarice.”

STARLING
”Good morning Dr. Lecter.”

HANNIBAL

“If you feel uncomfortable, it’s just a concussion that you sustained from Dr. Chilton’s gun. You’ll be all right. There’s a very comfortable bathroom, just in there. Want to try your feet? Slippers are beside your bed, I’m afraid I had to borrow your boots.”

CUT TO:

138 INT. SHOWER- DAY 138

Starling is inside the shower already starting to feel a lot better.

CUT TO:

139 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 139

Starling returns into the bedroom with a towel wrapped around her body, and another one around her hair. She walks over to the closet and opens it up looking at all of the beautiful women’s clothing inside. She smiles and picks out a nice dark green dress.

CUT TO:

140 INT. KITCHEN- DAY 140

Starling walks into the kitchen to find Lecter standing there, waiting for her. In his hands he holds something very shinny. It’s a belt buckle.

STARLING

“That’s my daddy’s!”

HANNIBAL

“Yes. Clarice, would you like to talk with your father? Your father is here. Would you like to talk with him?”

STARLING

“My daddy’s here! Hey! All right!”

Dr. Lecter puts his hands on the sides of Starling’s head, over her temporal lobes. He looks deeply into her eyes.

HANNIBAL

“I know you’ll want to talk privately. I’ll go now. You can watch the buckle, and in a few minutes, you’ll hear him knock. All right?”

STARLING

“Yes! Super!”

HANNIBAL

“Good.”

Dr. Lecter walks out of the room and Starling stares into the belt buckle. Suddenly there are two firm knocks, and her father comes in the doorway as she had remembered him.

FATHER

“Hey, baby! What time do you eat around here?”

Starling’s father walks over to her and touches her bruises.

FATHER

(Cont.)

“Hey, baby, baby. Did you fall down?”

STARLING

“It’s nothing daddy.”

Her father gives her a stern look.

FATHER

“How you doin’, baby?”

STARLING

“They’re pretty down on me at work.”

FATHER

“I know about that. That’s that courthouse crowd, Sugar. Sorrier bunch never drew breath. You never shot nobody you didn’t have to.”

STARLING

“I believe that. There’s other stuff.”

FATHER

“You never told a lie about it?”

STARLING

“No, sir.”

FATHER

“You saved that little baby.”

STARLING

“He came out all right.”

FATHER

“I was real proud of that.”

STARLING

“Thank you, sir.”

FATHER

“Sugar, I got to take off. We’ll talk.”

STARLING

“You can’t stay?”

Starling’s father put his hand on her shoulder.

FATHER

“We can’t never stay, Baby. Can’t nobody stay like they want.”

He kisses Starling on the forehead and walks out of the door. Starling starts crying and walks out of the kitchen.

CUT TO:

141 INT. LIVING ROOM- DAY 141

Starling walks into the nice living room to see Dr. Lecter sitting in a chair waiting for her. Starling smiles and sits down beside him.

STARLING
”I’m really mad at him. I mean, come on, how come he had to be behind a goddamned drugstore in the middle of the night going up against those two pissants that killed him? He short-shucked that old pump shotgun and they had him. They were nothing and they had him. He didn’t know what he was doing. He never learned anything.”

HANNIBAL

“I know Clarice. Listen, I’m going to ask you to come with me to another room. Your father visited you, as best you could manage. You saw that, despite your intense wish to keep him with you. Now it’s time for you to visit him.”

CUT TO:

142 INT. SPARE BEDROOM- DAY 142

Dr. Lecter leads Starling into a spare bedroom. He quickly turns around and looks right at her.

HANNIBAL
”Clarice, you know your father is dead. You know that better than anyone.”

STARLING

“Yes.”

HANNIBAL

“Come over and see.”

Starling’s father’s bones are composed on a twin bed, the long bones and rib cage covered by a sheet. The remains are in low relief beneath the whit cover, like a child’s snow angel.

HANNIBAL

“Where was his star, Clarice?”

STARLING

“The village took it back. They said it cost seven dollars.”

HANNIBAL

“This is what he is, this is all of him now. This is what time has reduced him to.”

Starling begins to cry and falls to the floor looking at the remains.

HANNIBAL

(Cont.)

“Clarice, I’m going to leave you here with these remains. Remains, Clarice. Scream your plight into his eyeholes and no reply will come.”

Hannibal lays his hand on Starling’s head.

HANNIBAL

(Cont.)

“What you need of your father is here, in your head, and subject to your judgment, not his. I’ll leave you now. Do you want the candles?”

STARLING

“Yes, please.”

HANNIBAL

“When you come out, bring only what you need.”

CUT TO:

143 INT. LIVING ROOM- DAY 143

Dr. Lecter sits at the fire calmly thinking to himself. He looks up hearing Starling returning. He turns to see her in the doorway with a soft and sad smile on her face. She carries nothing in her hands.

CUT TO:

144 INT. SMALL APARTMENT- DAY 144

The front door to a small apartment opens and Barney Matthews enters. He sets his keys down and continues toward the kitchen. To his shock sitting at the dinning table in his kitchen is Ardelia Mapp. She’s also holding a gun right at Barney’s head.

MAPP

“Sit down, Nursey. Pull your chair over there and tip back against the wall.”

Barney does as she says and the legs of the chair creek.

BARNEY

“If the chair legs break don’t shoot me, I can’t help it.”

MAPP

“Do you know anything about Clarice Starling?”

BARNEY

“No.”

MAPP

“I’m not fucking around with you, Barney. The second I think you’re lying, Nursey, I’m gonna darken your stool, do you believe me?”

BARNEY

“Yes.”

MAPP

“I’m going to ask you again. Do you know anything that would help me find Clarice Starling? She’s gone away.”

BARNEY

“I know.”

MAPP

“Maybe Lecter took her. If he took her what would he do with her?”

BARNEY

“I’m being honest with you. I don’t know. I’d help Starling if I could. Why wouldn’t I? I kind of liked her and she was getting me expunged. Look in her reports or notes or…”

MAPP

“I have. I want you to understand something, Barney. This is a one-time-only offer. If you know anything you better tell me now.”

Mapp raises her gun higher.

MAPP

(Cont.) 

“If I ever find out, no matter how long from now, that you held out something that might have helped, I will come back here and this gun will be the last thing you ever see. I will kill your big ugly ass. Do you believe me?”

BARNEY

“Yes.”

MAPP

“Do you know anything?”

BARNEY

“No.”

Mapp nods and gets up.

MAPP

“Just sit there until I’m gone.”

Mapp leaves the room and Barney sighs with relief.

CUT TO:

145 INT. BEDROOM- DAY 145

Starling is still in her beautiful dress and is lying on the bed asleep. She suddenly hears the sound of piano music coming from the living room of the house.

Starling wakes up and gets out of the bed.

CUT TO:

146 INT. LIVING ROOM- DAY 146

She enters the living room seeing Dr. Lecter playing on the piano.

HANNIBAL

“Did you sleep well?”

STARLING

“Great, thank you.”

HANNIBAL
”There is a gift for you on the dresser over there.”

Starling frowns and walks over to the dresser. She picks up a small box and opens it to reveal a pair of beautiful earrings. She looks into the mirror as she puts them in her ears.

Lecter gets up from the piano and pours a couple of drinks of champagne. He walks over to Starling and hands her one of them.

HANNIBAL
”If I saw you every day, forever, I’d remember this time.”

STARLING

“How many times have you seen me? That I don’t know about?”

HANNIBAL

“Only three.”

STARLING

“But here…”

HANNIBAL

“Is outside of time, and what I may see taking care of you does not compromise your privacy. That’s kept in its own place with your medical records. I’ll confess its pleasant to look at you sleep. You’re quite beautiful, Clarice.”

STARLING

“Looks are an accident, Dr. Lecter.”

HANNIBAL

“If comeliness were earned, you’d still be beautiful.”

STARLING

“Thanks.”

HANNIBAL

“Do not say thanks.”

STARLING

“I say what I mean. Would you like it better if I said ‘I’m glad you find me so’? That would be a little fancier, and equally true.”

HANNIBAL

(Smiling)

“Clarice, dinner appeals to taste and smell, the oldest senses and the closest to the center of the mind. Taste and smell are housed in parts of the mind that precede pity, and pity has no place at my table. At the same time, playing in the dome of the cortex like miracles illumined on the ceiling of a church are the ceremonies and sights and exchanges of dinner. It can be far more engaging than theatre. I want you to understand what riches you bring to it, Clarice, and what your entitlements are. Clarice, have you studied your reflection? I think not. I doubt that you ever do.”

Hannibal turned Clarice toward the mirror.

HANNIBAL
(Cont.)

“Look Clarice. That delicious vision is what you are. This evening you will see what is just, you will say what is true. You’ve been hampered by constraints. I will tell you again, pity has no place at this table.”

STARLING

“I want a pleasant dinner.”

HANNIBAL

(Smiling)

“That I promise you.”

Starling continues to look at her reflection. Dr. Lecter takes a syringe from out of his pocket and injects it into Starling’s arm. She doesn’t even seem to feel it as she continues to just stare at herself.

Lecter takes the syringe out and throws it in a nearby wastebasket.

HANNIBAL
”Follow me.”

Hannibal and Starling start off toward the dinning room.

CUT TO:

147 INT. DINNING ROOM- DAY 147

Starling sits down in a chair on the opposite end of the room. Lecter takes the chair at the other end of the table.

A SERVER comes out of the kitchen bringing two plates of food. He sets one down in front of Lecter and puts the other in front of Starling. He then leaves.

STARLING
”What is this Dr. Lecter?”

HANNIBAL

(Smiling)
”It’s a new delicacy that I like to call Cordell a la blu.”

Starling smiles and takes a bite of the meat on the plate. She seems very pleased by it as she closes her eyes to savor the flavor of the food.

HANNIBAL

(Cont.)

“Do you like it, Clarice?”

STARLING
”Very much Dr. Lecter.”

HANNIBAL
”Then by all means, please have some more.”

Starling continues to eat the food while Hannibal takes slow bites of his food, watching Starling eat the whole time.

CUT TO:

148 INT. LIVING ROOM- NIGHT 148

The room is completely dark. Starling and Dr. Lecter both sit on the floor next to the fire looking at one another.

HANNIBAL

“And so I came to believe that there had to be a place in the world for Mischa, a prime place vacated for her, and I came to think, Clarice, that the best place in the world was yours.”

STARLING

“Let me ask you this, Dr. Lecter. If a prime place in the world is required for Mischa, and I’m not saying it isn’t, what’s the matter with your place? It’s well occupied and I know you would never deny her. She and I could be sisters. And if as you say, there’s room in me for my father, why is there not room in you for Mischa?”

HANNIBAL
(Smiling)

“That’s my girl. You learn so well.”

STARLING
”Tell me doctor, did your mother breast feed you and your sister?”

HANNIBAL
”Yes.”

STARLING
”Did you ever feel that it was your duty to give up your mother’s breast to your sister at some point?”

HANNIBAL
”I do not remember, Clarice. But if that had been the case, I would’ve gladly.”

Starling removes one of her breasts from her green dress.

STARLING
”You don’t have to give up this one.”

Hannibal smiles again and moves his lips to Starlings. They both kiss in the firelight.

CUT TO:

149 INT. OFFICE- DAY 149

Will Graham sits in a chair in an office at Quantico. He looks extremely fatigued and over worked.

Jack Crawford walks into the office.

CRAWFORD
”How are you doing Will?”

GRAHAM
”Not so good.”

CRAWFORD
”I know. You’ve been working day and night trying to figure out where Starling might be.”

GRAHAM
”It makes no sense Jack. We looked at every possible place in Newcastle that he could’ve went and came up with nothing.”

CRAWFORD
”Any luck figuring out those locating computer systems that we found at the Verger estate?”

GRAHAM
”No, and I’m not getting anything out of Margot Verger or Judy Ingram either. I don’t get it. It’s like they’re protecting Lecter for some reason.”

CRAWFORD
”I’m going to go out for lunch. Would you like to join me?”

GRAHAM
”Sure. Just give me a couple more minutes and I’ll be ready.”

CRAWFORD
(Smiling)

“I’ll be waiting in my office.”

GRAHAM
”Alright. Thanks Jack.”

CRAWFORD
”Sure thing.”

Crawford walks out of the office and leaves Graham alone again. Suddenly the telephone rings. Graham picks it up.

GRAHAM
”Will Graham.”

HANNIBAL

(V.O)

“Hello Will.”

Graham suddenly sits up in his chair very alert.

GRAHAM
”Dr. Lecter…”

HANNIBAL
(V.O.)

“Don’t even bother getting the attention of other agents Will. I won’t be on long enough for a trace. I just wanted to say hi.”

GRAHAM
”Dr. Lecter, where is Agent Starling?”

HANNIBAL

(V.O.)
”She’s just fine Will. By the way, I’m so sorry about what happened to little Josh. That was a very sad thing for me as well when it happened. I prayed for your son when he died. Just remember he’s in a better place now Will.”

GRAHAM
”Cut the bullshit Lecter. I want to know where Clarice Starling is right now!”


HANNIBAL

(V.O.)
”Do you still where that same atrocious aftershave Will? I hope whoever was getting it for you for Christmas finally stopped. That stuff was quite strong.”

GRAHAM
”Where is she Lecter?”

CUT TO:

150 EXT. TEATRO COLON- EVENING 150

A limousine is pulling up to the Teatro Colon in Buenos Aires.

HANNIBAL

(V.O.)
”I’m sorry Will. I have to go now. We’ll be late for the performance if I don’t go. It was so good to hear your voice again. All the love to you. Ta ta.

The driver of the limo gets out and goes over to the back door on the passenger side and opens it. Hannibal Lecter and Clarice Starling get out of the limo and are immediately surrounded by the press trying to get an interview as they enter the building.

The two stop only long enough to have a romantic kiss. The screen freezes on the kiss as…

FADE OUT:

151 ENDING CREDITS 151

Credits begin playing as well as the song “Spin” by Lifehouse. Following that is the return of the song “Vide Cor Meum” by Danielle De Niese and Bruno Lazzaretti.
